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District of New-York, ss.

E it vemembered that on the Twenly-Third day of

' tebruary, wn the Thirty-Iowrth Year of the In-
dependence of the Umited States of America, M*CarTY and
Wieers, of the said District, have deposited in this Office
the itle (f a Booky the right whereof they claim as Pro-
prietors, in the words and figurcs following, to wit : '

~ ““ Tr1ar of Caoarres WaxkeLy for a RAPE on Mrs.
Resecca Fay, wife to Doctor Cyrus Fay, Physicians
before the Court of General Sessions of the Peace for the
City and County of New-York, for the February Term,
1810—Twhen' by a Stenographer, by permission of the

Lﬂu?f”

In conformity to the Act of the Congress of the United
Staz‘ca entitled * dn dct for the. E zzcoumw’ment of Learn-
wng, by securing the Copies of' Maps, L/zan’s‘ and Books, to
z‘irc’ Authors and Pr aprwtom of such Copies, during the times
therein mentioned,” and also e‘o an Act, ent: tlcd ¢ A Act
supplementary to an Act, ernlitied an Act for the Encourage-
gnent of Learning, by securing the Copies of Maps, (,bmts

and Books, to the Authors and P robrictors of such (,U,)zes,
daring the times therein mentioned, and extending the Bene-
Jils ther:of to the Arts of Des‘zgnmg Engraving and ftching

Hm’orzul and other L'rints.”?

CHAR’S CLINTON, Crixx
of the District of New-X, 01 .
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CHARLES WAKELY,

Before the Court of 2uarier Sessions of the Cily and County
of New,Yorl, for ﬂcel February Term, 1810,
FOR A
RAPE
COMMITTED ON THE BODY OF
MRS, REBECCA FAY,

ZRE WIFE OF DOCTOR CYRUS FAY, PHYSICLIN:

Saturday, the 17th of I'ebruary, 1810.

| T Court opened at the usual hour, and the prisoner
. Dbeing brought to the bar, he pleaded Nof Guilty to the
.~ ¢harge. |

The Court consisted of the followi > gentiemen ¢
The Hon, Pierre €. Vax Wycr, Recorder,

- Caarres Dickexsown, Esq. and .
: S %A]dermen.
J. I. Roosevirr, Esq, e

After challenging several jurors, the following gentlemen

’ were empannelled to try the interesting cause, viz.
Adbraham Kaapp,. Thomas K nox,
John Gilmour, Jonas Afinisirn,
John Boyles, James Hallet, yuntor,
Robert M. Steele, Benjamin FHuntingtow,
William Wilkinson, John H. Williams, and

Bemjamin [Viathrop, HHenry Hedlew.
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After order had been restored, which, from the immense
concourse of people, it was difficult to maintain, Mr. Ri-
ker, the Attorney-General, rose, and opened the cause in
behalf of the people. His speech was to the following
effect :— s

Gentlemen of the Jurys

- This 1s one of the most impertant causes that ever came before
a court of Justice. The charge against the prisoner at the Bar, is one
of the most heinous, 1n the sight of both God and man. The crime to bi’
proved against him, is a Rape, a violation by brutal force, of the chastity
of a married woman. To satisfy his brutal lust, he has involyed a once
happy family in misery, and planted thorns in the bosom of a virtuous
wife, and an affectionate husband. The laws of our country very pro-
perly rank this offence in the highest grade of criminal actions, and it
guilt be proved against the culprit, the law sentences him to a just and
- severe punishment. * -

Gentlemen—1 shall 1n the course of this trial prove, as I trust, to your
_satisfaction, the perpetration of this most barbarous and brutal crime.
by the prisoner at the bar—I shall prove that it was committed under
very aggravated circumestances, and then leave vou to be the arbiters of
the fate cf the parties, from the evidence produced. 1 understand that
‘he counsel for the prisoner rely for a defence, on invalidating the testi-
mony of the female on.whom this offence was committed, and alonc
therewith involving the reputation of the husband in the general wreck
of infamy and ruin. Let them beware, for we are prepared to meet
tht?,l"‘ﬂ_ Oll_-tililt gi‘t‘)llndi and to prove that there has been p[‘cpare(] a decp,
dark, and detestable plot, to ward off the blow from the head of the
euiity, and permit it‘ to fall “en that of the innocent with accumulater!
force. Ihie agents of this nefarious scheme, in the course ‘of this trial,
<hall be exposed in alltheir naked deformity, and the mask shdll be
torn from the cadaverous front of vice ; for we ave fully fortified by most
respectable and unimpeachable testimony, to repel any calumnies which
may bé allcdged‘ag@mst the character of the suffering victim of hruta!
lust.  Without tutther preface, 1 shall therefore proceed
nation of the first witness:

%
L7

0 the examl
\
“Mrse Fay was tew sicorn: :
QUCSHOH, by Mr. Riker-—-——-‘fouarc the PErson on WwRom
the prisoner at the bar committed a rape -
ALY es: : | AT e
Q. Relate the circumstances fully to the court and Ly
“A. On the eveningof the 5th of December last, Charle-
Wakely, who was then a boarder in the house, came ints
the sitting room; which was the front room on the second
floor, aboutiil o'clock in the evening. My husbdand was
called out on professicnal business, and we were left aloue.

-
- . P '{'-., e ;’: i : : £ = 4 ,.-". H e R e 2 & ke . " 1
I I‘:‘ h ‘_: ¢ ,*-:L.._ o :."'*: ',,ﬂt"‘l _ Vb PRERi L O ¢ :_ld I)r{ijSﬂd g‘i}l I]g t'O Ded"'—*
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I said, I shouid not, antil my husband’s return, as I did not
wish to leave the street door unfastened. Ie then extin-
guished his candle, and again set down by the fire—when
1 arose and crossed the room toward the piano forte: he
jumped up and grasped hold of me; I resisted,his rmde-
ness, and loudly called on him to desist. o which be 1aid
no attention. e then put his right haid audsr v Lft
arm, and clenched my right behind me, @+ d carried e to-
wards the door, which was then open, and whicil he shut
with his foot. I endeavoured to ery out murder: but he
pressed my ntouth so hard agamnst his breast that 1 could
not be heard. lle then forced me againsi a dinitig tables
which steod in one side of the room, and accomplished his
detestable purpose of ravishing me. . After forcing me, 1
told him that Mr. Fay should be informed of ihe asfair, and
would shoot him for it.  He swore he did not care for a
thousand like him, and if I revealed what "appened. he
would be revenged ; on which he lighted his candle, Jert
the room, and retired to his chamber.

After my husband’s return home, perceivine e depres
scd 1n spirits, he msisted on knowing what had happencd.
After much solicitation; I at last told him Wakely was a
villian. He insisted on particulars, which I reluctantly
related. In a gust of passion he went into the bed room
and brought in a pistol, and perceiving it was not primed,
went down stairs to prime it, uttering execrations against
my ravisher, and swearmng he would take his life; O his
return [ met him on the stairs, and insisted on his desisting
from the commission of an act of murder, and begret 10T
for his own, his wife and children’s sake, to lay aside such
a horrid thought. He then came again into the sittng
room, and said if I would faithfully adhere to his directions
“that he would not attempt to commit marder. To this I
complied. e then directed me to behave to Wakely as
if nothing had happened, and gave me strict charge not
to reveal it te any human being, in order that we might on
some future occasion have an opportunity to have some -
testimony from hiscown confession, which might be suc-
cesstully brought befere a court of justice, to all which I as
far as in my power, faithfully compiied.

Atter my husband became more calm, he examined my
wounds, and bathed them with laudanum—my right arm
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was hurt—the skin was rubbed off one of my knees; mv
thigh was much bruised, and I was scverelv hurt in my
pnvak parts, by his using his hand, and appl}mw itthere,
besides applymﬂ* :-,omethm{r else 1n my ravishment.

About one in the morning 1 réticed to my bed—and

was abley for two days alterw ards, to be up 2 and about the
house ; but the third day, an mﬂammatlon had commen-
ced wHu,h confined me to bed for aboutsix weeks. During
the first fortnight of my illness, Wakely, who still lodg c::f*i
i the house, sometimes came to the bed chambsgr doorto
dnquire after my health, but Icould not bear bis sight,
and«hardly could ndite 0 answer him—but the chm-
mands of my‘ husband made it my duty to do so.

Ciross-cxamined by Peter Jan Munro.

B 7 5 You say thisrape was commi itted in VOur own nouse ;

we 28 there 1o other persons therein at the time ?
i.0Xes, the servant boy about 11 years old, and my

,"f:m achild of 4 years of age, were in bed.

Q. Where was their bed chamber ?

A. In the back garret room, in the Soor above the par-
lour. |

Q.~Had the parlour shufters or curtains ?

~Acidthas inside shutters only, which were closed.
Q. Wmlethe act was committing, did you net call for
hdp ' £ ]

A. ol called murder several times, but he pressed me =5
closely-to his breast that I could not be heard. | ?

Q. DD any JRIRs doeuny the houses on each side of

}'Lu i :
A Yes, a portrait pamter lives on one “ld(f, and there

152 br:ck building on 'the other, in which a family resides.

Q. You say he. grasped one of your arms——did vou not
resist with the other?

A. I could not, 1t was over his shoulder.

Q. Did helay you on the table?

A. No, he forced me back agamst it; and my ht.ad was:
agamst the wall,

Q. Did he raise your clothes bpfore he p aCGd you in
this position ?

A. Yes—when he caught me on the fioor, he raised
my ¢loaths, and unbuttoned hisown ; while he carried me

toward thc deor and shut 1t with hls foot : he kept my



¢loaths up by pressing them betweenus ; and them jorced
me back against the.side of the table.

Q. Didbis feet stand on the floor? A. Yes..

Q. Was yours suspended in the air 7 Al «d'O notknow.

Q). Did Wakely unbutton the waistband of his breeches?

A. No ; only the fore-flap. .

Q. Does he wear suspenders ¢ A. I cannot tell.

Q. Does he wear high small clothes, according to the
present fashion ¢ ' '

A. Such as other men of fashion wear.

(). What hurt yourknee ? _

A. The buttons on the knees of his breeches rubbed off.
the skin. | '

(). What bruised your thigh? B o
~A. His pressing severely against me ; he also hurt my
hips against the table. '

Q. You say your secret parts were torn, what was the
cause of that. duch a thing could not arise from a sexual
connexion ? | |

A. He applied his hand, andinjured me severely in my
resistance ; but I cannot fully describe it. .

Q. After the commission of the pretended rape, how
lony did Wakely remain 1n the room ?

A. Not above one or two minutes.

Q. Did you say you would discover the transaction te
your husband ? :

A. T did, and he said that he did notcare for a thon-
sand like him, and if I dared to dao so, he would be re-
venged. |

Q. Did you say you would make your husband shoot him:

“A. 1 did say so, at the moment. -

Q. Did you see Wakely tiie next morning 2

A. He came to my chamber door and enquired for me.

Q. Did you hold any conversation with him at any time
afterwards, previous to his arrest.

A. No, I'eould not bear to speak to him, and never
saw.him ; exceptal the door of the chamber.

Q. Wasyou acquainted with him, previous to his be-
coming a boarder 1n your house ? | |

A. Slightly ; my husband had business with -him, and
he sometimes came to the house. '

Q. 1id you see him no where else, except at your own
house ?



A. Ido not recollect. : .

Q. Did you not advise him to leave Mrs. Doughertys,
and come and lodge with you ? i

A. No, never.

Q. After W akely became your boarder, did your hus
band tell you that he was diseased, and under his care.

A. He mtimated as much.

Q. What was hxs complaint, was it not the venereal dis-
order r '

A. I understood it was.

Q. In the course of your six week’s sickness, did your

confinement arise from that complaint

A. I do netknow, I amignorant as to the nature of the
disorder—I am no physician

Q. Did your physicians ever tell you that you bad the
venereal ? _

A. They never did.

Q. And Wakely never conversed freely with you in
your bed chamber, during your illness ?

A: No : when he saw “the nurse, he always quitted i
abrubtly, and only came to the door.

Q. What evening was the rape committed ?
A. On Tuesday evening, the 5thof December.

Q. Did you immediately procure a nurse ?

A. I had no nurse until the Saturday following ; she lefi
me on Monday, and another black wench was obtamed
on the following Wednesday.

Q. Pray had you not a supper party at your house 1n the
course of that week ? |

A. Not that 1 know of. .

Q. Prayrecollect, was not Mr. longworth, Mr, Took -
er, and others, spending the ecvening at your house aftex

this affair happened ?
A. Onthe Fuday evcnmﬂr afterwards, I recollectto hav

heard men’s voiges in the pdrlour b ekl
(2. Did you hear no music ? -
A. Yes, thc bed-chamber door was left open, and

heard a tune played on the piano.
Q Who played ?
. Martin Tooker. .
Q Do you recollect of Wakely coming into the room,

and assisting the boy te cook a supper?
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A, Wakely was 1n the room, giving directions aboit
Looking. s | |

Q. Did you see him?  A. 1do not recollect,

Q. Has your bed curtains ? S '

A. Yes, but they were undrawn in front, which stands
Ltowards the fire-place. _

Q. Then you could not help seeing Wakely by yadr
bed side. Did you converse with him ? sk

A. i) do not recollect. | |

Q. Did you partake of part of that supper ? ;

A. No, I didp not. ; ' P'P |

Q. Did you drink any thing that evening ? AR Ty
3 A. My husband brought me in a glass of wine, which |

L . | s

Q. Did you know that the same wine was purchased by
. your ravisher ? |

A. No, I did not. 2

Q. Or that the supper was provided at his expence?

A. Idid not know that it was. _

Q. Did Wakely ever take any improper liberties with
you on former occasions ? T

A. No; only once before hé came behind me and kissed
me, when there was another gentleman in the room——
when I resented it, he said, patdon me, madam, I am donge
forever. 4 N

Q. Did he ever attend you to the Theatre and pay for a
ticket 7 | . _

A. He never gave me a ticket, but I bave been ig his
company at the Theatre along with Mrs. Pintard and Miss
Magau. '

Q. The evening that you state that the prisones gbused
you, did he flatter you and kiss you? |
~A. When he first came into the room with my husband,

he complimented me on my musical talents, for I had been
singing and playing on the piano while they were below ;
~but as it was unusual for him to flatter; I thought him a Jit-

tle tipsey. But after my husband went out, he gaid and
did nothing, except stand up by the fire and lock at me
with great earnestness—at which I was a little confused,
and arose to reach a book, which was lying on the piano,
when he seized me and used me in the most brutal mafi-
ner, which 1 before described. |

o
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Q. Pray, madam, excuse the question I am about to put
— 1L wish not to offend your delicacy, but my duty makes it
necessary—Have you had connexion with any man since
the first of November last except with your husband ?

A. No, with none, except with Wakely, and that only
on the fatal night he forced me.

Q. With no man, except your husband since the ﬁrqt
of May last ?

A. No, I have not.

Q. With none since your marriage 2

A. No, indeed, never have. .

Q. Do you know a Mr. Sinclair ?

A. Yes, I amslightiy acquainted with him.

Q. Have you not frequently sent for him ? |

A. Sometimes—he taught musie to my busbandand my-
self and when we had a leisure hour we were happy to be
instructed.

Q. D1d you ever visit the Theatre in hts company, or ac-
cept of tickets from him ?

A. Inever accepted aticket as a present from him, al-
though I may have been in his company at the Theatre

Q. Do youknow a Mr. M‘Guire?

A. I know very little of him.

- Q. Who were your physicians ?

A. Drs. Hammersley ard Turk. -

Q. Were they called in previous to Wakely's commit-
ment to prison ?

A. Dr. Turk'called in as a friend, in the absence of my
husband, one morning, shortly after my confinement, and
asked what~was my complaint ; he felt my stomach which
was swelled, but I do not know whether he prescribed,
but he and D, Hammersley were not formally called In
until after Wakely was imprisoned.

Q. How long did Wakely resort your house, after the
pretended 1njury ?

A. He was faken there, I understand, and sent to prrson
about a fortnight afterwards It was said he was going
away to Vlrgmla the day following.

Q. Was that on a civil suit, and was the damages laid
at 10,000 dollars? '

A. 1 afterwards understood from my husband that it
was. ,.
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Q. Did you ever conceal any person under your bed, or
in your room, 10 order to intrap Wakely, and hear his con-
fession to you. |

A. We proposed 1t, but it was never accomplished.

Q. Did you ever undergo an examination from any of
your prescribing physicians.

A. No, from no one but my husband ; it was eur wish

to conceal the cause of my complaint as much as it was pos-
sible.

Q. What was your complaint ?
A, A suppression of urine.

Dr. Fay was next sworn,

After which, the Attorney-General requested him- to
give a distinct relation of the facts which bad come to his
knowledge. His evidence was of the following tenor:

On the evening of the 5th of December last, the prison-
er, who had boarded in my house for about two months,
was in the shop below, and having shut up, went up stairs
into the dining room, where Mrs. Fay had been amusing
herself with her music ; she was more than usually cheer-
ful, and after I had sat a short time with them by the fire,
I recollected that I had a family visit to perform that even-
ing ; therefore I left them, when near eleven o’clock in the
evening. 1 remained absent about an hour: on my return
I perceived a wonderful change in the appearance of my
wife ; instead of cheerfulness, gloom and silent grief seem-
ed to be preying on her spirits; I asked the reason ; she
declined angwering., Alarmed at the change, I entreated,
I implored, to be made acquainted with the misterious
cause—when she hurst into tears and exclaimed, the vil-
lain Wakely, he has murdered—he has ruined me forever.
I then, with mdescribable sensations of horror, was made
acquainted with the circumstances of the rape which had
been committed on the partner of my bosom—threatened
an instant and a dreadful revenge. 1 hastened to my
chamber and brought in a pistol, which I kept there for
defence. Returning to the light in the sitting room, perceiv-
ing that there was no priming in the pan, 1 ran down stairs
to the shop, and got powder and prepared to commit the
nameless deed. On returning, I was held by my wife, and
entreated to forego the bloody purpose. I went into the

room again, when she remonstrated and told me that Wake-
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Iy had locked his door, and as he wasa more powerful man,,
he might be laying in wait for me, as he had sworn revenge
1n case that the terrible crime was disclosed. She depicted
before my distempered imagination the fate of a murder-
cr. After hearing her out, and frequently traversing the
'room, I became more calm, and said if she would be go-
verned by me, I would give np the project of taking a great
and just revenge of her ravisher with my own hands—to
which she willingly acquiesced, I then proposed that she
should keep the matter a profouud secret, and treat Wake-
ly as formerly, until other testimony might be procured, by
confession from his own mouth, as he was apt to boast to

his companions of his amours, and of his violence to other
women. On this plan we agreed ; for not having any
knowledge of law, I did not then know that Mrs. Fay’s
testimony was sufficient to convict him.

Cross exanmuned by Mr. Munro.

Q. Did you attend Wakely as a physician while yout
boarder. =~ h - '

A. Idid; he had the venereal.

Q. How much per week did he pay you,

A. Feur dollars, for board and lodging.

Q. Did he appear to youto be wealthy. _

A. When he first came to my house he had no money,
and I frequently lent him small sums ; but after he had been
there several weeks he paid me off. [ had occasion for
money afterwards, which he lent to me : he was so poor at
one time that he pawned his watch in order toraise fifteen
dollars for me to help to pay my rent,

Q. Did you give him a note when there was an execu-
tion in your house, for the sum of fifty dollars, which he lent
you to pay it off and save your furniture.

A. No.

Q. Was be free in conversing with you, and did he dis- -
close to you his ameurs and violences to other women.

A. Yes, frequently.

- Q. Did you consider him a woral man when you re-
ceived him as a boarder. |

A. Yes, only he was diseased.

Q. Did you consider his having the venereal a proof df
-his morality. | |

A. No,
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Q. Pray how could youleave your wife in private o fifes
quently, witha man whom you know had used violence to
other women. |

A. Because she had a protector in Mr. Andrew Smith,
who was also a boarder.

Q. Where was Smith on this evening, the famous ffth
of December ?

A. He had left the house a few days before.

Q. Did the physicians, called on consultation, examine
your wife ?

A. They did not. I reported the symptoms.

Q. Did they prescribe as for one infected with the ve-
nereal? -

A. They did,

Q. Why did you not use your pistol, and shoot
Wakely ?

A. Because I listened to Mrs. Fay’s entreaties, and was
afraid of being committed for murder.

Q. Did he remain as a boarder in your house after the
rape?

%\. He did for a few days, near a fortnight, bur was fre-
quently absent from his meals, and often out all night.

Q. What evening was it, did you say, the rape was
committed ?

A. On Tuesday evening. |

Q. Had you a party and a supper at your house, on the
¥riday following ?

A. I bad no party by my invitation.

Q. Who then invited them ?

A. Idonot know ; when I came home, I found Wake-
Jy and several gentlemen in the parlour ; he said they were’
there by hisinvitation, .

Q. Who were those gentlemen ?

A. Mr. Martin Tooker, Mr. Painter, Mr. Longworth,
and may be one or two more, but my mind was agitated
‘at the time, and I do not recollect.

Q. Was Mr. Longworth invited by Wakely ?

A. No; he stepped in as a friend of the family,

Q. How did you spend the evening ?

A. Mr. Tooker played on the Piano, and I opened the
bed-chamber door, that Mrs. Fay, who was in bgd, might
Dear the mustg. '
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Q. Did you nothing more ? . ..
A. Yes: we played several games. at cards—I believe
whist was the game. = e

Q.. You say vou were much agitated; are you in the ha-
bit of playing at cards when your mind is agitated ?

A. I have done it sometimes, |

Q. Had you a supper, and who cooked it?

A. The boy 1 believe warmed some meat at the fire in
Mrs. Fay’s bed chamber—as I asked the gentlemen to eat
some bread and cheese. X '

Q. Did not Wakely assist ?

A. 1 believe he did ; he was freqnently backward and
forward in my wife’s room, during the evening.

Q. Who provided the wine ?

A. Wakely provided some for his guests.

Q. Did your wife partake of the supper?

A. 1do not recollect. -

Q. Did she drink any liquor ?

- A. Yes; a glass of wine, which I presented,

Q. Did you play at cards for meney? A, Yes.

Q. For how much?

A. 1do not now recollect.

- Q. Did you lose or win ?

A. I donot know : I have forgot. “

Q. How could you deliberately sit down, eat, drink, and
play cards, and all this in company with, and at the ex-
pence of your wife’s ravisher ?
~ A. I do not know that it was at his expence.

Q. How could you ask your wife to drink of his wine,
who, you say, had so cruelly injured her ¢

~A. 1donotknow that it was Wakely’s wine. I had some
in the house. e v

Q. Did you frequently associate with him after the rape ?

A: No: Iseldomsaw him.
~ Q. Did you mect with him at Mr. Martin Tooker’s ?

* A Yes: one atternoon I was passing his house, and
called in. That day my mind was excessively agitated.
Wakely was there. Afterwards 1 went to see Mrs. Bre-
voort, of whom he had frequently said very hard things, to
know whether he had not mentioned something about my
wife. On my return to Mr. Tooker’s, Wakely was stil!
there. | |
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Q Where did you go afterwards ? |
. Mr. Tooeker proposed to go to Hodgkinson’s to eat

supper towhich 1 assented. ake] and Charles Tooker
went out before us ; but we met them there.
‘ Q. Did you eat suPper in company ? |
- A. Yes:=<Wehad beeksteaks and oysters—I supped on
beefsteaks.

Q. Did you take any oysters from off Wakely’s phte

A.No,1didnot. .

Q. Did he treat you, or pay for any llquor for you

A. Not that I recollect of.

Q. Did he go home with you, as a friend, arm ip « tm. .

A. 1 think not—at least not to my knowlcn’e

Q. How wasyou capable of doing such violence to your
feelings, of which you have spoken sa pa,thetlcal] , as to
associde, ina public house, with your wite’s ravisher.

A. Because I thought I had not sufficient proof te bring
him o conviction.

Q. During this time had you never mentioned the cir-
cumstance to any body ¢ - :

A.  No, not directly—I ‘went to Mr. Fay, bat he was
busv I then stated the case hypothetically to Mr Max:
well, as if it was a patient of mine, aad that the young
man wished not to beknown. Mr. M. being busy came

to the door and requested the person to call the next day-—-
I stated it in the same manner to Justices Fero o ~ad

Meigs, to know what was best to be done.” © "#.n at
length, when'he wasabout to leave the city, nupaiicd the
secret to M. Joseph D. Fay, and he advised hrs arrest on
a civil suit—on whlch I wentto Mr. Maxwell, and took
out a writ for 10,000 dollars, in order to detain hlm, which
I had sérved on him the samé evening. Mr. F. said he
could be arrested both on.a civil and on a criminal prese-
cution,
Q. Did you say to the Sheriff, after you gave hlm the
writ, that it might be settled without taking him.
- A. 1did not.
Q. Where was hetaken. A, Inmy house.
Q. When was it.
A. About the seventeenth of December.

Q. Did the prisoner hold a note of yours for 5‘0 dol]arvr

A. Noe. %



o. Do you owe the prisoner any money.

. No—He owes me a three-dollar pair of shoes, on ag-
count of a breast-pin of Mrs. Fay, which she sold to him,
~and which I advised her to sell, as another might be pro-

cured—it contained her sister’s hair. '
Q. Were you in a porter house, or have you visited ta-
verns with Wakely since the rape.
R I have not.

The Court then adjourned, being after ten o’clock, and

sent the Jury to lodgings at the City-IHotel, under the care
of six officers.
e e R -

Proceedings of Monday, the 19t/

Mr. Fay, cross-examined by Mr. Munro.
2. How long has Mrs, Fay lived here ?
A. Nearly two years. |
. How long have you been married 2
A. Between five and six years. - _
2. Was you ever parted from your wife since your mag
xlage ? , ' 4,
A. Yes ; we were separated aboutone year.
2. When came you together again?
A It will be two years next May,
2..What was the reason of your parting &
A.sd went to Philadelphia, in order to improve myself,
by attending Rush and Barton’s medical lectures.
2. Had you any dispute with your wite, which caused
you to leave her'?
AT NG ' e
. . Where did she reside during your separation °
A, At her tather’s at Bedford.
Q. Where did you go, | :
~A. First to Boston, and from thence to Philadglphia.
Q. Relate your history since you first parted with your
wife, |
A. I proceeded to Philadelphia, and remained four or
ive months attending medicinal lecture—from thence 1 ré-
moved to Bordentown, New-Jersey, and had charge of
~ the young ladies department in the academy there, and fi-
~mally left it, to settle in New-York., 1 commenced prac-

| ]
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tice here about six months before my wite came, and all
the time of our separation she remained at her father’s.
Q. Why did you not send for her immediately on yous
commencm practice.
A. Because I was too poor to support her. Buf there
never was the least difference or coolness between us.
Q. After your separation did you immediately go to Phi-
ladelphia. | :
A. No, I lived three months in Concord.
Q. Why did you leave there while your wife was at her
father’s at Bedford.
A. Idonot know.
Q. Did you keep house after marriage, and how long.
A, Yes, about two years.
Q. At what place.
A. At Bolton, where I comimenced practice.
Q. Why did you break up house-keeping.
a. In consequence of insolvency, and my pecuniary mis-
fortunes.
Q. Was you ever confined in Concord _]all on account of
committing forgery.
Vo L
Q. Did youbreak up house-keeping consequeme of
this.  a.No.

Q. What was the nature of the for%ery
a. It was said to be for counterfeiting Mr. Longley’s

name on the back of my note.
o. Did you leave Bolton on that account.
A.No.
Q. W here was, and who held that note.
A. It was given tothe Worcester Bank.
Q. Where did you reside when you heard of your being

accused of forgerv
L. AL Y house at Bolton,
o. How long was it afterwards that you was arrested
A. Fouror ﬁgve days.
Q. Why did you gu off to Boston.
A Lo sell ahorse. w .
. Was you arrested at Boston, and brought back to Con-

COFdJ1ﬂ
A. Yes.
Q. Why did vou quit house- keepmﬂ'

e

'&j'}
i
]
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A. Because my goods were taken for debt by Mr. Barry.
Q. Why not take your house also.
A. I donot know.

Q. Did you sell the house.
A. No.

. Wh x

A. Beeguse Barrev arrested me before I had wn epportu-
~nity, and carried mé back to Concord.

Q. How came you to owe Barry.

a. For monmey fent me, on my note with Mr. Long gley as
indorser. But when the note became due, Longlev refus-
ed payment, and denied having signed the note.

Q. ‘Vasth“ pote qlnce paid.

. Yes—My brothar took it up and gave his own.

Q, W ’hy um e 4o, 0

. Because we are friends

Q. Lidhedo thls in order to stop the prosecution against
you for forgery
A. I do not know _

Q. Did-you payall vour debts

A. Yes

Q. What wras the valae of the horse

A. 350 doliars: he afterwards sold for that sum
Q. What did you give him to Barry for

A.

He allowed about one hundred or one hundred and
ten dollars for him.

[ Here the Counscl inlerfered, with regm d {0 M r. Munro's
minatte manner ¢ catechising, and appealed to the Cowrt.

- Mr. M. repiied that the witness was too hardened a sin-
ner to be intimidated by a cross-exanunation, and the Court
- requested him to proceed. |

Q. Do'you know Mr. Forbes and Mr. King of Boston,
and have you evet associated with hrm.

A. No.

Q. Do you know Mr. Buck, w ho stands there {pomt-
g him out to the witness) |

A. No—I do not recoliect to have ever seen him before.

Q. What was Barry.

A. A deputy-sherift and keédper of the jail

Q. Was you indicted f@r a forgery
~A. Yes, I'was

P



19 :

@. What note was your indictment predicated upon—
that held by Barry, or the one in possession of the Worces-

ter Bank :
A. On Barry’s—but the one to the Worcester bank was

paid by Longley, to whom 1 fied gives o bill of sale of my
property. | |
Q. Did.Longley deny hav i~ endov. & ciiier of these

notes.

A.:Yes. . |
Q. Was you tried for the oge onn which an indiotiiicnt
was found against you.

A. No..
Q. Why?

A. After being confined for some time I was admitted
to bail. '

Q. Who were yourbzil. ‘
. My brother and father-in-law

A
@. What wasthe amount of your recognizance:

a. live hundred dollars each

@. Llhen it was for fifteen hundred dollars in the whele 7
A, Yes..

Q. Did you undergo a trial.. A, No.

Q. Why? S

a. My friends were fearful that enemies would be brib-

ed to swear against me, they therefore theught it proper
that I should be out of the way..

q. Then you forfeited your recognizance.

A. Yes. |

Q. Did your brother and father-in-law pay it

A. They did ; but my father-in-law was afterwards re-
imbursed by my brother:

Q. How long before vour indictment for fargery was it
that you parted with your house to Mr. Barry.

A. About a month, before my arrest; 1 never was in~-
dicted before the grand jury. I wasonlyarrested. Inow
perceive there is.a difference between an indictment and
an arrest S
. Q. How did your misfertunes commence

A. From the loss of preperty, and bemg confined by
sickness N
Q. What was the amount of the note held against you

by Bagry,
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A. About three hundred dollars
@. Why did you go to Boston ; I thought you said just
now you was sick when your misfortunes commenced.

A. I had been convalescent about ten days previous to
my departure. I went there on account of the loss of pro-
perty and to avoid the observations that might be made
about the pretended forgery

Q. Did you goto Boston tosell a horse only

a. That was my sole intention for going
Q. Did you break up house-keeping for the purpose of
pursuing your studies and attending lectures at P’hiladel-

phia. |
 a. It was net my only motive

q. What other inducement had you to do so and leave
your wife

A. My brother insisted on my departure after getting
out of jail, as he was afraid of a comprrar‘} being formed
against me to effect my ruin, and I complied W1th his re-
quest

Q. Did you suppese that Mr. Loongley would be bribed.

A. No—NIr. Longley had always been my endorser and
was my friend, and a very worthy man; but when the
notes became due, and I had get the means of paying
them, he made a declaration that they were wrongly glvcn
-—and, after making over my property to bhim, h satis-
fied the Worcester banL e was a poor man and a
farmer. '

S a G AT G certain your brother took the ferﬂ'er) In ques-
tion out of the way and gme his own note 1n lieu thereof.

A. I did not see it and therefore am not Cf:*"tam but he
told me so
0 After you got out of prison where did you go.

I I'Lfilcllntd one.nicht with my wife at her father’: 55
-an(‘ the ne; xt day went bf.f the stage to Philadeiphia.

Q). Did youever change your name.

a. Never.:

Q. How long did you study med cine bufore yon com-
mencvd practice. ,

L hree years. -
Q How long was you in practlce at Bolton
A, s bout three years.

Q, Is your father hvmg*
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A. No—nhe has been dead five or six years.

Q. Have yon ever been in Massachusetts since the time
vou left it so abruptiy.

4. No—I have not been there since

Q So you do neot know Mr. Buck, which 7 pointed out
to you in Court

A. 1 domnot.

Q Did you never write letters mentioning his name
since the rape was said to be committed

A. Never, that / recoltect.

Q. Doyou know a Mr. M‘Guire, and where is he now.

A. Yes—he is a friend of my wife’s family and is now in
Baltimore _

Q. Did he board in your house. |

A. No—"he lived in my house, as a friend, while in this
city—I charged him no board. '

Q. When did he leave New-York

a. About the end of September last.

Q. Have you never written letters to him mentioning
Mr. Buck’s name '

A. Yes—/{ Dbelieve 1 have

Q. Why?

A. Because he 1s my enemy

Q. How 1s he your enemy -

A. Because he had reported something to the disadvan-
tage of Mr. M’Guire about his leaving Boston, and also
about my family—and my wife-—and 7 advised him to be
on his guard against him

Q. Did you communicate these sentiments to M‘Guire,
by letter, since the commission of the rape by the prisoner.

a. [ really donot know

Q. What was the contents of your letters to M’Guire

A. I do not recollect _

Q. Have you not seen Mr. Buck at Mr, Fisher’s, who
oceupies the.store int front gt your house. '
-~ A. Yes—[7 thilnk / have seen Mr. Buck there

Question by the Attorney-General.

Q. Have you not lived happily with your wife since your
marriage i e 4

A. Yes, always—Qur paral separation was entirely ow-
ing to family misfortunes., |
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Questions by Mr. Munre.

@. Have you not boasted lately, that you had fixed two
of the principal witnesses for the defendant.

A. No—/ never did

Q. Do you know Ann Brower and Mrs. Farr

Y-esy

Q Have you not sz.ud to either that you had fixed Sin-
clair and looker

4. No—1 have not

Q. Did your examine the injury your wife had sustained
after you had agreed with heron the measures to be pursued..

a. 1 did, and found one of her kntes very much rubbed,
ot the skin ruffied up—her thigh and arm bruised, and the
genital organs much injured—Her s***t was b****y. [
then applied a bath ot brandy and laudanum to the parts
affected—Afterwards we retired, about one o’clock, to bed;
where we spent a sleepless mght,

Mrs, Fay was again called before ilie Court:
- Questions by Mr. Riker.

Q. Dld yimr husband and yourself alw Ay live happily.
together since your marriage

A. Yes, always—It was misfortune alone that caused a.
partial separation -

Q When you came from Massachusetts to \ew-York
who protected you on your journey

A. My brother-in-law, Mr. Fay, attended me from Bed-
ford, and saw me on board the packet

@ Daring your unfortunate separation, did you frequent-
ly correspond thh your husband

A Yes, very frequently, by letter

Questions by Mr. Munro:

Q Did you keep house immediately after }our marriage

A NTO—-——About ten weeks afterwards we began tr.)"keep:
house, and continued to do so for about thyee years -

Q ‘Vas your husband’s practice sufficient, in the town of ‘
Bolton and its neighborhood, to emable you to live in the
stile you did g

A Yes—FHis practice was wvery cxtensive for a young

man, and by his mdustry we werg enabled te Live com-
iormoly
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Q What was the origin of his misfortunes
~ a He speculated on a large quantity of hops, and lost
money by them

Q Did youeva hear that your husband was accused of
tforgery _

A Yes—on Saturday a note became due—He was sick
at the time, and bhad no means to pay it—It was said that
he had forged Mr. Longley’s name, as endorser

©. When did your husband go to Boston

+. On Monday ; he went there to sell a horse

). For what cause did he leave you and go to Philadel-
phia _

A. Im order to prosecute his studies

Q. Was he arrested in Boston, and carried from thence
to Concord goal

A. Yes. he was _.

Q. Was it on a charge of forgery

A. Yes. I understood that it was on account of a nofe
siven to Mr, Barry, for about three hundred dollars

Q. Wasthat the cause of his commitment

A. Yes, I understood so

Q. Did you break up house-keeping in consequence of
th's

A. Yes

Q. How long was your husband in jail

A. About three months

(. Did your husband steal the horse

A. No, he bought him of Mr. Rice

Q For how much

A. Forabout one hundred and ten dollars

Q What was the reason of your husband’s leaving his
native state, after he was bailed from prison :

A His brother advised him to do so, as he entertained
fears.of bribery being used against him by Mr. Longley’s
friends, because Mr. Barry ysed him very barshly

Q What connexion had Barry with Mr. Longley

a He held the note that was said to be forged

Q. Do you know Mr. M<Guire

A Yes

Q. Did he board with you

A Yes. while in New-York he hived in the house as a
friend of the family
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Q Did he ever take improper liberties with )ou

A No, never |

Q You say the prisoner pulled up your cleaths in front

a He pulledthem up behind and before

QT hen he left you quite naked

A Yes he did

Q Yousaid that he put his right hand under your Jeft
arm, abeve the elbow~—how then could 1t happen that he
held up your clothes before and behind—shut the door with
his feet, and carried you back to the table

A 1 cannot tell; but he did so

Q DBid you not scratch him

A No—1I could not

Q Why: |

A. Because my left arm was over his shoulder, and my
right arm was held fast, besides I had no opportunity, as
my object was to get rid of him.

Q Did you kick him
A ch—-——I attempted to

Q Did he carry you from the door to the table and lay
you on if.

A. No—he jammed me against the corner of it

Q Did he ravish you there

A No—he twisted me to the front of the tabiec and push-
ing me against it, forced me on it, and my head came a-
gainst the wall

Q What did he do with his left hand

A He separated me with his left hand in order to make
way for the gratification of his Justful passion

Q Why did you nat shove back upon the table to pre-
vent ravishment '

A 1 was held so tight that I couid not

(7 Did vou ever take Mr. Fisher into your bed-room.

A No, never—Mr. Fisher was one of the gentlemen.who
hired the front store, and of course I hﬂd many opportunit-
tics of seeimg him.

Q Did he ever offer to Llss v“ou or mnsult your virtue

A He never did

Q What was the nurse’d name who attended you altet
“Mrs. Gable.

A Dorcas, a blar..:l woman, who came on the Wednes« |
day following |

0O Da van "nmv Mr. 'md Mrs. Googdlad
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A. Yes, I do;they have been boarders in my house.

Q. Did you ever recommend to Mrs. Goodlad her put-
ting herself upon the town ?

A. I never did. |

Q. Did you not say to her that she might as Wcll earn
ten or twelve dollars of a night as not ?

A. No, never.

Q. How long did they lodge with you ?

A. About a week.

Q Did you attempt to separate him from his wife?

I did not.
: Q Did the husband remain in your house after the

wife went away.
A. Yes,forone or two days.

' Q. What was the reason?
A. She seemed to be jealous, and a quarrel ensued, in
consequence of which she left the house. |
Q. How long did he remain in your house after his wihe
left 1t ?
A. Two or three days.
Q. Had you and Goodlad ever any sexual conversa-
tiop ?
 A. We never had.
Q. So you never recommended Ms. Goedlad to pms-
- titute herself ? X

A. No, never.
Q. After Mrs. Goodlad left the house, did yor ~¥ 1 to

supply Mrs. Goodlad’s place, and endeavor to iputice her
husband to remain; and also say that he should not want
any thing that he mlght be in need of.

A. 1 never did.

Q. What was the cause of Goodlad and his wnfe leay-
ing your house.

°A. I found her to be a_bad woman—we dxsagreed-—-—
finally ‘we fairly quarrelled, and I ordered her out of my

house ; she went away, and her husband remained for a
day or two.

Mrs. Goble sworn.
Q. Did you act the part ‘of nurse to Mrs. Fay,
A. Yes; I was called on, and went there on Saturday,
and remaived until Monday foréncon. When I went, T

found Mrs. Fay very ill; asked her husband the nature of

D
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hi¥r complaint : he replied it was a stoppage of urine ; and
in the evening when I came there, prepared warm fomen=
tations for her to sit over, in order to helpthe passage.

Q. Did you ask Mrs. Fay about her complaint ?

A. Idid ; but she said she would tell me afterwards
what her disorder was: she cried freq@ently during my
stay, and I could not learn from her the nature of the case.

Cross-examined by Mr. Munro.

Q. Did you understand that stoppage of water was the
disease complained of when you was nurse ?

A. That I did understand. -

Q. Had the fomentations you made use of the intend-
éd effect ?

A. Yes, they had.

Q. You say her stomach was very much swelled : what

did you apply to allay it ?
- A. I wasrecommended by the physicians who attend-
ed her to rub the parts with brandy, mixt with laudanum ;
I did so as often as they prescribed : she was confined to
her room nearly 7 weeks. ' ' '

Q. Did she frequently shed tears during your attend-
ance as nurse ? TR

A. She did frequently.

Q. Asnurse, you had an opportunity to perceive when
- she passed urine ?

A. Yes, I had, and perceived that in her water blood
was frequently mingled. _

Q. Did you hear her physicians say that a suppression
Of urine was the cause of her discase *

A. Idid. '

Q. Did Mus. Fay ever relate the circumstance of the
rape to you until after Wakely wasin jail?

A. No, never. |

Q. Did her spirits during her confinemgnt seem very
‘mpch depressed ? ek
A. Yes, always.

DORCAS GROVES, SWORN.

Questioned by thé Attorney-General.

Q. Dorcas, you have been nurse to Mrs. Fay. When
did you commence your duties as nurse ?°
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A On Wednesday, the 13th of Decémber, I commenced
my term of service at Dr. Fay’s. The same evening I
turnished Mrs. IFay with a change of linen, she having given
me her keys. After having prepared it, I perceived she
was unable to put her cloaths off ; I therefore, under her
directions, stripped her, Her shift I was oblized to draw
over her head—Her right arm was very much bruised—I
also perceived her knees and thighs much hurt, and I ex-
amined her ****, and am of opinion, that the violence
used was the occasion of those bruises. On turning her
over, I perceived a large bruise on the back part of her
thigh, and also a small scratch on the inside of her right

knee. Mrs. Fay stated to me that she had been ravished
by the villain Wakely, and that the laceration of her ****

and other bruises, were 1r consequence of said viglation,

Cross examined by Peter Juy M unro.

Q Deorcas, are you a slave

A No, I am not '

Q Was you originally onc

A Yes, I was

Q To whom

A To Mr. Marsten '

Q Wasyou afterwards in the family of Mr. T, White

A I was, in consequence of Mr. White marrying my
master’s daughter ; afterwards I lived with Mr. Cruger for
seven years, and was a hired servant to him, but in conse-
quence of my behaviour, was set free ; I also lived with
Dr. Buchannan, and Judge I'ay. Previous to my living
with them, I went to Boston, with Jack Martin and his
wife, and remained one year there; on my return, as I
said before, I became house-keeper to Dr. Buchannan

Q Was you ever committed to the care of Mr. Hazard,
for playing the pimp, or have you ever been in Bridewell ?

A I have

Q For what reason was you confined there ?

A I was accused of having been the cause of bringing

a young girl to a houseof bad fame, and for having receiy-
ed money for the same '

@ Were you tried for the crime ?
A No, I was discharged
2 Did you, or did you not, when you pulled off her
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cloaths, as you have before stated, perceive a large mole on
her posteriors

A Yes, I did

2 Did you perceive that it had hair on it ?

A 1 did ; it was the only blemish I perceived on Mus.
Lay, except the bruises.

Dr. Buchannan was next called, and sworn.
2 Has ever Dorcas lived with you ?
A Yes; she lived with me 6 or 7 months. I have en-
trusted her with my plate, and every thing that was valua-
ble in my house, and found her faithful

- Q Why did you part with her ¢
A It was her own choice.

Dr. Wm. Turk, sworn.

Q \Vhat do you know about Mrs. Fay ?

A 1 had been out of town, and on my return, on the 16th
of December, I stopped at Dr. Fay’s, having previously
heard that he had called at my house, wishing to see me.
I tound Dr. Fay and Charles Tooker playing cards in the
front room up stalra He told me Mrs. Fay was sick, and
wished to see me ; I went into her bed-chamber, and ask-
ed what was her comp]amt She said 1t was a cold ; she
~ had a pain in her head and back, and she complained very
muchofa retention ot urme ; she stated that her husband
. bad administered some medicine to her—I Fresuibed for
her case, and generally called twice a-day afterwards

Q. The ﬁrst day you called did you see Wakely in her
bed-room ?

A. Yes—he came in whilst I was examining her.

Q. Did she join in an exclamation against the barbarity

of her husband’s conduct along with Wake] ?

~A. I donot recollect thatshe did ; but \Vake]y and her-
self expressed much joy at seeing mf: and Wakely said,

that her husband had treated her with Cruelty I had fre-
quently attended her for a similar complamt previous to
that time—namely, a retention of urine. I did not know
the origin of her complaint until after W ‘akely’s arrest, of
which her husband related to me the circumstances. I
prescrihed for her as if afflicted with the gonorrhceea.  Af-
ter Wakely’s commitment 1 advised a consultation, and

met Dr, Hammersly at Dir, Fay’s on that business,
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Q. Did you examine her wounds? .

A. I did not ; but finding her pulse strong and full, I
extracted a pint of blood from her arm. Our consultation
and prescription depended entirely on Dr. Fay’s relation.,

2. Was there an union of sentiment between Mrs. Fay
- and Wakely, reprobating the conduct of her husband ?

A. I understood there was.

Q. You say aretention of urine was her only complaint?

- A. We were told so; but the faculty prescribed as if for
the venereal, because Dr. Fay reported to us that she had
the symptoms.

Q. Was Mrs. Fay in bed when you first saw her on this
occasion ? - .

A. No—She was sitting in an easy chair before the fire,
and complained to me that all things had not been done
that ought to have been done for her.

Q. When did you first call on Mrs. Fay ?

A. On Saturday, the 16th day of December.

Q Was Dorcas her nurse at that time

A Yes, she was |

Q In whatarm did you bleed Mrs. Fay

A In the right

Q. Did you bandage the arm, as is usual with physi-
cians, 1n order to extract blood. |

A. Idid
Q. Did you perceive any bruise on her right arm

A. No, she did not complain of her right arm being in-
jured,

Dr. Hammersley was next sworn.

He relates as follows :—About the latter end of Decem-
ber, he was called on to visit Mrs. Fay, along with Dr,
Foot, Dr. Walker, and Dr. Turk. From the representa-
tion of her hushband, we were of opinion that she notonly had
a gonorrheea, but had been otherwise injured by violence,

Q Did you examine her body

A I did not, but her husband requested us to do so

Q Did she appear delirious

A When I first saw her, she appeared flighty or hyste-
rical i
Q Could a simple gonorrhcea be the cause of delirium

A I do not think it could, because the mind, although
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in some measure dependent on the tody, could not be dis-
ordered, in my opinion, on account of a simple coition :

the mﬂammatmn of the parts, on account of v1oIencc, must
have been gone before my visit ; but my impressions were,

and I still believe, that her hystencal affections were caused
by the perturbation of mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Munro.,

Q You say you did not examine Mrs, Fay’s body?
1 did not—we depended on her husband and relied

on hIS statement of her situation. _
2. You saw nothing to prove the account given by him ?
A. 1 did not, except examining her pulse, her eye, and
noticing her sensations, as every phv5101an would, and her
s}?mptoms entirely concurred with Dr. Fay’s statement.

b

Joseph D. Fay, sworn.

Q. What do you know about Dorcas.

- A. She lived with me about two months as a servant—
I thought her soher, honest, faithful and industrious.

Q. When did you hear of the rape.

A. Some time in Dec. he met me in Wall-street, near]y
about the hour of 3 in the afternoon, and told me, while in
great agitation and 1n tears, the dreadful story. Having
much to do, but at the same time feeling for Mr. Fay, I
told bim that I could not spare time, at that moment, to
advise what was best to be done. We then parted, and af-
terwards he called on me and requested my advice as a
counsellor. I stated to him the law in such a case, and ad-
vised him to prosecute Wakely on a civil suit, as at that
time, he told me W. was about to depart for Virginia———I
therefore told him to take out a writ for 10,000 dollars
against Wakely, and that he could hold him to bail on a
cml action, for crim. con. ; but that he must likewise pro-
secute him for a criminal case, and if he commenced he
must go through with it.

Cross-examined by P. J. Munro.

Q. How long have you known Dr. Fay
~A. About two years ago he called on me and mentioned
his name ; that he was my cousin, and that he had practlfef*
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physic. I advised him to commence business in the city—-
He did so, and about six months afterwards his wife came
from Massachusetts and he commenced house-keeping.

Q. What do you know of Mrs. Fay ? - '

A. Myself and family bave frequently visited her, and
have always considered that she was a virtuous woman,
and an excellent wife.

Q. Did Dr. Fay, previous to the rape, ever call on you
and tell you-he was jealous of his wife : |

A. Yes, he did.

Q. What was it about ?

A. Hecame to me, weeping, and told me that he had
discovered a letter, a locket, and a lock of hair, which had
been sent to Mrs. Fay, and wished my advice with regard

to the subject, I thought very lightly of it and laughed it
away. S

Q,y You have known Mrs. Fay ever since her arrival in
this city ?

A. I have.

Q. Did you consider that Dr. Fay and his wife always
lived happily ? _ 7

A. 1 did—Mrs. Fay I ever considered as a virtuous wo-
man - , -

Q. Is Mrs. Fay a woman of free manners.

A. Yes; she is a woman that possesses z great flow of
spirits, and Ialways considered her foibles to arise more from
;]he simplicity of her manners, than from the errors of her

eart. Np

Q. Did you ever perceive that she acted the part of a
lewd woman during the period of your acquaintance with
her.

A I never did ; but her flow of spirits impressed me with
the idea, that although she spoke freely on various occa-
sions, she was only an imprudent woman, and that her er-
rors arose more from her head than from her heart.

Q. You have mingled with the world, and have had
much experience in it ; do you think that you could have
been deceived by Mrs. Fay.

A. If she is not virtuous I have been most egregiously
deceived. |

Q It appears from your evidence that you considered
Dr. Fay an honest man, and treated him as suth. Aftex
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what you have heard in this court, do you consider him en-
titled to that character ? |

A. Of that much may be said.

Q You then have been the dupe to Dir. Fay, your rela-
tion

A I confess I have not been emniscient

(Q Isit not possible, then, that you might have been de..
cetved by Dr. Fay’s wife ?

A It is possible ; but my opinion, with respect to Murs.
Fay, 1s even now favorable

_ Hugh Maxwell, Esq. sworn. _
Q. When did Dr. Fay call on you concerning this bu-

siness ?

A In December last.

Q. Did he state the case specxﬁcal]y 3

A. No; when he first came to me, he stated it hypothe--
tically, but after I had issued a writ for 10 ,000 dolls. against
Wakely, at his request, he told me the whole story.

Cross-examined by Mr. Munro.

Q Did you advise Dr. Fay to make up the affair?

A. 1 never did—But not being satisfied about issuing
the writ, I requested him to detail the business, which he
did. I never was informed of the cause of action for the
writ issued against Wakely, until he unbosomed his injuries
—1I then told him that I was of the same opinion with Jo-
seph D. Fay, and said, as be had commenced a civil, he
must also commence a criminal prosecutlon against the pri-

soner. | _
Isaac K D, sworn.

Q Did yon arrest the prisoner at the bar ?
Al dld——-—-About the 18th of December I recelveda writ.
againt him, at Mr. Maxwell’s, for 10,000 dollars—it was
at Dr. Fay’s suit. 'The Doctor went with me to his own
house, where Wakely then was—He told me that, perhaps,
it mlght not be necessary to arrest Wakely, but requested
me to wait below in the shop until he spoke to him.

Cross-examined by Peter J. Munro.

Q. Did you understand from the Doctor that his wife
was ravished by Wakely.
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AL 1did understand so. |
Q. Then the whole of your evidence rests on the Dr2s

account ;

~A. Yes, the whole of it. I never saw Mrs, Fay dur-
ing the pending of the trial, but from the represcniation
made, was convinced that it was proper to issue a Writ for
10,000 dollars, because 1 not only advised him, but press-
ed him to commence the suit. |

[ Here the testimony on the part of the people closed.}

Mr. Munro then rose, and delivered the following Speech :
May it please the Court, and Gentlemen of the Jury——
Fatigued, as I am, I rise in favour of my client, and shall
only defain you a few minutes with my observations ; vou
have already heard all that has been said in tavour of Mrs.
Fay, your prejudices have been excited, on account of her
sex, strong appeals hgve been made to your passions ; bur I
stand here as the advocate of the prisoner, as the suppories
of truth, of honest opinion, and of public faith, Before T
proceed further, I beg leave to read Sir Matthew iale’s
opinion respecting cases of this pature. In pagr 674 of

his most valuable work, he thus speaks :—

ExTrRc T—For in many cases there may be reason to adsmit such
witnesses to be heard, in cases especially of (bis mature, which e the
Jury is not bound to believe ; for the exceilency of the triat by jury, is
in that they are the triers of the credit of the witnesses as well as the
truth of the fact ; it is one thing, whether a witness be adimissible to be
heard, another thing, whether they are to be believed when heard. A

“Jt is true, a rape is a most detestable crime, and thevélore ought se-
verely and impartially to be punished with death ; but 1t must bé re«
membered,, that it is an accusation easily to be made, and herd*to be
proved, and harder to be defended by the party uccused; though never

§0 1nnocent. : |
“ I shall never forget o trial before myself of a rape, In the county of

Sussex, - "
& There had been one of that county convicted and executed for 2
rape in that county, before some other judges about three ussizes before,
and I suppose very justly ; some malicious people seeing how césy it
was to make out such an. accusation; and how difficult 1t was for the
party accused to clear himself, turnished the two assizes foilowing with
many indictments of rapes, wherein the partes accused, with some dif-
ficulty escaped. Y
“ At the second assizes followingy there was an antient wealthy man
of about sixty-three years oid indicted for a rape, which was fuily sworn
against him by a young girl of fourteen years old; and @ concurrent tes=-
timony of her mather and father, and some Qther rclations,  The an=

B
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tient mian, when ke cime to his defence, alledged that it was trug the.
fact was sworn, and it was not possible for him to produce witneszas to
the negative ; but vet, he said, his very age carried a great presump~
tion that he could not be guiity of that'crime ; but yet he had one cire
cumstance more, that he believed would satisfy the court and the jury,
that he neither was, nor could be guilty—and being demanded what that
was, he said, he had for above seven years iast past, been afflicted with a
Bicleous and great rupture.—[ The indelicacy of the remaining fart of thig
fraragraphy constraing us to omit it. |-="'he prisoner was aequitted.

“ Again, at Northampton assizes, before one of my brother justices,
upon the MNisi firius, a man was indicted for the rape of two young girls,
not abeve fourteen years old, the younger somewhat legsy; and the rapes
fully proved, though peremptorily denied by the prisoner ; he was there-
fore to the sztisfaction of the judge and jury, convicted; but before
judgment, it was most apparently discovered, that it was but a malici.
ous contrivance, and the party innocent ; he was therefore reprived be-
fore judgment.

“ I only mention these instances, that we may be the more cautious
upon trials of offences of this nature, wherein the court and jury may
with s0 much ease be imposed upon without great care and vigilance ;
the heinousness of the offence many times transporting the judge and
jury with so much indignation, that they are over hastily garried to the

conviction of the person accused thereof, by the confident testimony
sometimes of malicious and false witnesses.”

I shall also read to you, gentlemen, a short extract from

Blackstone’s Commentaries, on the same subject, vol. 4,
page 213, |

‘“ As to the material facts requisite to be given in evidence, and prov-
ed upon an indictment of rape, they are of such a nature, that though ne-
cessary to be known und settled, for the conviction of the guilty and pre-
servauion of the innocent, and therefore ought to be found  in such cri-
minal treatises as discourse of these matters in detail, yet they are high-
ly improper to be publicly discussed, except only in a court of justice. I
shall therefore merely add upon this head a few remarks from bir Mat-
thew Heale, with regard to the competency and credibility of witnesses ;
which muay, salve fiudore, be considered. |

And, first, the party ravished may give evidence upon oath, and is in
faw 2 competent witness ; but the credibility of her testimony, and how
far forth she is to be believed, must be leftto the jury upon the circum-
stances ol fact that concur in that testimony. For instance ; if the wit-
ness be of good faime ; if she presently discovered the offence and made
search for the offender ; 1f the party accused fled forit; these and the
- like are concurring circumstances which give greacer probability to her

evidence. But,on the other side, if she be of ill fame, and stand un-
supported by others; if sife concealed the injury for any considerable
tirne after she had an opportunity to complain ; if the place, where the
fact was alleged to be committed, was where it was possible she might
have been heard, and she made no outery ; these, and the like cireum-

stances carry a strong, but not conclusive, presumption that-her testj-
mony 1s false or feigned.” !

After producing such substantial evidence from the wri
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tings of the dead, I shall mow appeal to the works of the

living ; therciore, I beg leave to read to you, on this sub-
ject, a passage of M¢Nally’s Rules of evidence, vol. i,
page 2 —

¢ It may also at this day be -consicered a rule of law, thatif ajury ep-
tertain a reasonable doud? upon tne tryth of the testimony of witnesses,
given upon the issue; they are sword well and truly o try, they are
bouid in conscience to deilver the prisover frem the charge found
against him inthe indictinent, by giving a verdict of not guiity.

“ Sir Ldward  oke, iz favorem vitae, exhorts juries not to give their
veidict against a prisoner, without plain, direct, and manifest proof of his
guiit, whici implies, that where there is doubt, the consequence should
‘be acquittal of the party on trial. ¢ ¢
 “This reasonable doubt muy result from various causes, intrinsic of
the evidence given upon vath ; for o withess may be perfectly compe-
tent and swear positivgly to a chirge, materia! (o the issue trying, and
pet not deserve credit from the jory. |

% The infamy of his character, drewn from himself, up#n a crosse
@xamination, or given 1n evidence against bim by other witnesses ; his
interest in the event of the prosecuticn ; an apparent influence on his
mind ; and various other circumstances, may render him unweorthy of
eredit, even on his vath. -

So the credit of a witness may be materially affected, or totally des
stroyed, -by his manner of giving evidence. Resentment or partiality,
when prevalent, are apt to saecw themselves in the voiee and countens
unce of a witness, and, when they do, they are ecircumstances which
snust impress suspicion upon the mind of a jury. So it often happens,
that a witness destroys the credit of his testimony, by inconsistency, by
prevarication, by the manner of lus representing facts, and often by ob-
wruding his own sentiments and opinions ; sometimes by an exeeas of
warmth, sometimes by a solicitous reserve, and often by an affectation of
candour. Inalil shese, and similar cases, his credibility is, at least ques-
tionable ; and, unless his testimony be snpported by clear and unsuspi-
cious collateral proof of the facts chaiged on the prisoner by the indict-
Jpent, doubt must arise in the minds of the jurors ; and, by the humanity
of the law, where doubt is created, an acquittal ought to be the consee
‘guence. | |

“ Therefore, wherever the evidence warrants the obgervation, the
jidges consider it an indispensable duty in charging the jury, to remind
 ¢hem, that as they are intrusted with the administration of public juss
tice on the one hand, and with the life, the honour, and the property of
the prisoner on the other, their duty calls on them, befare they pro-
mounce a ¥erdict of condemnation, to ask themselves whether they are
satisfied, beyond the prohability of doubt, that he is gullty of (he charge
alledged against him in the indictment,

-« And thisshews, that evidence does ot consist in merely the swear-

ing to facts—but in the proof of facts, by witnesses of undoubted cre-
dit.”

Frem what I have already read, you must have per-
crived, that a rape, in the languags of the authors quoted,
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is easily to be made, difficult to be proved, but still more-
difficult to be disproved. You bave already perceived in
the course of the testimony produced, that Dr. Yay is a
perjured man. I have drawn from his wite and himself
testimony, sufficient to prove him a viliain. 1 think that
in the course of her cross-examination, Mrs. Fay does not
appear in-a much better light. You have seen a greatdeal
of stage-trick made use of on this occasion. The virtuous -
lady has acied the part of a weeping Melpomene ! Onour
side we have been threatened as conspirators! Betore my
God and country, I solemnly declare that the charge is
falss—is infamous, and in the course of the testimony,
which 1 shall produce, in behalf of the prisoner at the bar;
I trust, I shall prove, to your satisfaction, that he is not
~ oniy innocent ofp the alledged crime, bat that his conduct
toward the woman has been meritorious, honorable, and
praise-worthy. | am well aware of the prejudices raised
against him. The Court, the Jury, and the World, must,
from owr common feelings and our common nature, be
prejudiced in favour of a helpless female. We have there-
fore to resist these prejudices, and convince you, gentlemen,
that our client is'inmnocent of the charge alledged against
Rim—awe shall produce you testimony sufficient te convinge
you of the isfamy of the character of the wife and husband.
I shall not remark on the nature of the testimony which
they have produced ; convinced that you must be sensible
thar [.have already drawn evidence of perjury from their
Iips, in the course of the cross-examination. I shall there-
fore procecd to turnish testimony, not only to disprove what
- has been said in behalf of Mrs. Fay. but also to establish
the purity, the innocence, and the integrity of my client,
While I do so, I beg leave to recommend to you, notonly
to dismiss your prejudices in favor of the female character,
but aiso to recollect the saving of the greatest man that ever
Tived in any age, that ornament of the British bar, Sir M at-
thew Hale, which isleft by him on record, namely; “that
the charge of a rape, 1s easily made, hard to prove, but
still harder to contradict.”

Lestimony on behalf of the Prisoner,
Catharine Cutsholt, sworn,
And relates—that she lived in Dr, Fay’s house, as §¢g-
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vant, either one month and three days, or two months and
three days. | :

Q Did you suppose that Fay and his wife lived happily
together _ E e

A Yes, I did ; except a certain citcumstance which oc-
curred during my stay in their house

Q What was that circumstance - -

A I understood that Dr. Fay became jealous of his wife,
en account of 4 letter which was delivered to her |

Q Who was the author of that letter

A Ijudged that it was Mr. Fisher

Q Why? :

A Because he was intimate in the family
-~ Q Did you perceive any thing improper between Mr.
Fisher and Mrs. Fay

A I thought I did—Mr. Fisher kept a bonnet-store in
front of the same house. Mrs Fay was fond of singing and
dancing, and frequently did so in the presence or Mr.
Fisher _

Q Was Fisher and Mrs. I'ay ever closetted together

A Yes—One day he was called up stairs by Mrs. Fay:
curiosity prompted me to go up :. L found the bed-reom
door locked : laoked through the key-hole, but could not
perceive them, although I saw the curtains at the fooi o the
bed SN 02 Mg

Q So you clearly perceived the foot of the bed, from the
key-hole

A 1 did—The bed stood in the front room in the second*
story, and, looking through the key-hole, I saw the foot of
it ; but know nothing about Fisher’s connexion with Mrs,
Fay _ 5% T W * s
Q. In what position was the bed at that time placed:

A. It stood with the toot toward the window, and the
head toward the closet—there was only sufbeicnt distance
between the door and 1t to contain a chair—1 couid per-'
ceive only the curtains at the foor of the bod through the
key-hole of the door, 4 TON

Q: Did Mrs. Fay Correspond:withy Mr. Fisher |

& ThedayMy. Fisher was going io Na_ﬂ:‘:a*-vﬁngland, Mrs,

Fay wrote a letier: L was sv‘r*zi..)i_)?n_g the stairs ;" her ~usa
. ‘band.came in; she folded it up ; pushed it down my back,

G,
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and charged me not to reveal it to her husband. After-
wards she took it out and came down into the kKuchan,
sealed it with a piece of sealing wax, and finally I saw ber
deiiver the letter to Mr. Kisher with ber own hand
- @ Did she dance before the prisoner at the bar

A. I have seen her do so |

Q Did you see her do so with her petticoats above hér
knees. | '

A 1 did—She danced in the kitchen in Wakely’s pre-
sence, and pulled up her clothes above her knees.

Agnes White, sworn. -

She states—that she now lives at Mrs. Ash’s in Johp-
strect, but lived with Mrs. Fay, for 3 months and 3 days :
heard her frequently complain of her husband’s cruelty, and
often heard her commend Mr. Fisher, who frequently sup-
plied her with money. Wakely was a boarder in the house
at the time, she also spoke well of him, she frequently went
out with Mr, Uisher of an evening.

Q Did Mr. Fisher and Mrs. Fay often go out together

A Yes, they often did—tor three evenings successively,
belore he wentto the eastward, they went out ‘

Q Inorder to go with him, did she jump over into Mr.
Yorrilard’s yard ?

A Yes, she did '

Q Do you say that Mrs, Fay did so 2

A Yes—I did not see her, because I wasdown stairs in
the kitchen, but the little boy, pointing toa bench which
‘stood on the top of the cistern, said that Mrs. Fay had leap-
ed over the fence, from the bench, and gone out to the
strect.

Q Did you ever see Mr. Fisher take improper libertigs
with her ?

A I haveseen him kiss her, and they also one day went
up stairs, and were locked in the bed-room together.

Mr. Thomas T. White was then introduced, and sworn..

Q Do you know Dorcas Groves ? |

A Yes, Ido:she was my slave; I had her from my
wife’s family—she is a most atrocious character—every
thing that is infamous is peculiar to her ; § would not be-
lieve her word, neither would I beljeve her oath, because I
know her to be a very bad hussey,
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Agnes Whitewas again called, and cross-examined.

Q Who is your father ? __'_
A He is a moulder, and lives in Canal-street 3 1 lived

6 or 7 weeks with Mrs. Fay, but went-home every might

to my Farent’s house—saw her dance one day in the kiich.
ore Mr. Wakely, with her petticoats raised above

her knees—she asked witness whether Wakely was nota

%mper man for ¥ ¥ ¥ * ¥ _saw Mr. Sinclair and Charles

ooker often at the house—Mrs. Fay said Sinclair was jeal-
ous of her, on account of her intimacy with Mr. Wakely.
| Here, injustice to the public, we think proper to apolo~

gise for not mserting two particular questions, which were

%

asked the witness, relating to the menses.)

Witness saw Wakely come into the kitchen; while Mrs.
Fay was cooking a beef-steak, and bending over the fire,
he put his hand under her cloathes—was then standing by
the table, and perceived it distinctly.

Q Haveyou been to see Wakely while he was injail #

A I have been there three different times.

Q Who went with you ?

A liza Wigton | |

Q Did Miss Cutsholk inform you that she read a letter
of Mrs. Fay’s, addressed to Mr. Fisher, 1n which it was
said that she would leave her cuckold of a husband, and go
with him?

A Yes, she did say so

Q Why did youleave Mrs. Fay?

A Because she had no further employment for me—we
never quarrelled—I thought her a very imprudent woman.

Question by Mr. Riker.

- Q Do you know Mrs. Fay to be a very industrious wo-
man ?

A Yes, I thoughther so.

1t being now half past ten o’clock, the Court adjourned till
the mext morning, and the Jury, in the custody of six mar-
shals repaired to the City-Hotel.
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- Proceedings of Tuesday the 20(];,

David . (,astro, SWOrn.

Q. Where do you live » _
A Io Chatham street, next door to the house occupled

by Dr. Fay

Q Can you hear any noise in your house from ‘that of
Dr. Fay: -

A Yes, [ can ; T can hear the piano forte played; and
~sometimes when they have been playing cards, 1 have heard

them say, ¢ I have bet you.”

Q Do you go early to bed ?

A Seldom or ever before  eleven, or half past eleven
o’clock, because after shutting up my store 1 post up my
books 1n my parlour.

Q Arcyou frequently out in the evening

A No, never after eight o’clock
John §. Taylor; sworn.

IHe relates that Dr. Fay and Mr. Wakely came into his
house on the twelfth of December, and called for liquor, of
which they drank ; that Dr. Fay borrowed some money
from Mr. Wakely while in the store, in order to pay off an

-account which Taylor had against him. =~ Mr, Wakely sent
for wine the same evening, which was charged to his ac-

count, Mr. Wakely lived at Fay’s from the fifth to about

the eighteenth ot December.
Mr. John Gilbert was then sworn.

He relates that he had a capias against Dr. Fay, and the
Dr. offered Mr. Wakely as bail, which he refused, because
M;r. Wakely was not a house- keeper ; thinks that this hap-
pened about the middle of November last.

Mrs. Eliza Goodlad, sworn.

Says, that in Ocrober last she arrived from England,
and expected to have met her father, who 1s'a c]ergyman
on her arrival, she requested Mr. Hall to look out for rooms,
and went to board at Mr. Willis’s 5 they had letters for
Dr. Bennet, and a box of china cnnsign&d to him, which
was in their possession. In November, they were solici
ted to go and board at Dr. Fay’s ; entertained a very favor-
able opinton of Mrs. Fay, but had soon reason to changeit,
for the very first day after I went there, she put into my
hands a book, containing obscene cuts : my husband and
D, Fay were abaent and on their return, she snatched up

FF
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“he ook, and concealed it, remarking in a jocular manneér,

~ to Mr. Goodlad, that she had been teaching his wife Geo-
graphy. Nextmorning asked how her husband had treat-
ed her in the night, in a coarse and indelicate manner, and
how many times he had done it, and said the doctor did it
only every other night, Mr. Wakely came in at this time,
and Mrs. Tay, whisgering, commended him, and asked
her if she did not think he was capable of performing fami-
iy duty, and it she would not like to try him; witness denied
being unchaste to her husband, on which shesaid, you do not
know the virtue of it, one bit from a strange man, is worth
- five from your husband ; called Mr. Fisher a nice man—*
you are poor, if yougyill go into my room, I will send him
up, and he will make you a handseme present—if you will
go with me, I will take you to some of the first houses,
you may get twelve dollars, and if you catch the venereal,
I can prevent its communication te your husband—said if
she had as many dollars as she had known men, she might
ride in her carriage—after dinner, she called Mr. Wakely
up stairs—curiosity led me to follow—-I found the bed-
room door locked, and losking through the key hole, per-
ceived Mrs. Fay and Wakely in bed-—afterwards they came
down, and Mrs. Fay danced, while Mr. Goodlad played
the flute—perceived she took  great liberties with my hus-
band ; she also told me that the doctor had used her very
111, and shewed bruises on her legs and arms; I became
jealous of my husband and Mrs. Fay, and proposed to
leave the house, and take lodgings with Dr. Kass, but my
husband would not agree to go with me; / left the house
on Saturday, and my husband remained until Tuesday—on
Wednesday called for my clothes, and Mrs. Fay then told
her that she had bad connexion with her husband. -

| Cross-exanuned by Mr. Griffens

Q When did you leave Ingland?

A In the month of August last

Q Have you any children? . .

A I have not; was only married on the 16th of May
last.—{she then produced her marriage certificate before the
Court. | .

Q Did you ever state that you had children of your
own |
A 1 never did
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Q How long was you in Mrs. Fay’s house betore the
Geography scene took place
A It was about one hour after my ceming there—she
told me she was an experienced midwife, and sard she
would give me lessons
Q Was your husband confined in jail
- A Yes, he was
Q Did he attempt to put an end to his existence ?
A He did "
‘@ What was the cause ?
A He was in despair, disappointment in life had ren-
dered him desperate | 4
Q Did you ever see Mr. Sinclair at Pr. I'ay’s
A 1frequently saw him there
Q Did Mrs. Fay ever take any impropér liberties with
him in your presence
A One day she held up her mouth to kiss him
@ Do you know what time ofthe day it was when the

bed scene took place
A 1donotrecollect

Q. Where was the bed situated in the room.

A. They had been thai <ay washing the room and
windews ; the curtains were t2:own up above ; the head
of the bed stood nearly close to the middle window In
front, and the foot toward the back part or the room. I
could perceive the parties in b 2d, through the key hole.

Q Did Mr. Willis turn you out of doors

A No, he.did not -

- Q' Did you live at Mrs, Van Allen’s?

A We boarded there |

Q Wasyour husband put in jail by Mrs. Van Allen

A Yes

Q Did you report what Ann Cutsholk and Agnes

Wiite said abour Mrs. Fay -
A 1 did tell what they related to me.—|Here the wit-
ness produced a letter from Dr. Bennet, who Lives in Connec-
ticut, which was read i Court, on which Mr. Sampson ob-
served, that it was a plain tale, representing no forgeries, and
related to no fine horses. ]

o Was vourhusband sued by Dr. I'ay for defamation of
character ? '

4 1 heard that a writ was issued against him by Dr,



Fay, for g 10,000'but never taken om it. Dr. Fay kept a
box of chma, and part of our cloathes, and turned us out
of the house, destitute of resources.

Robert Stwanton, Esq. was then sworn,

He relates, that some time in Nov .,mber, Mrs. Goodlad
g¢alled on hlm—--rcpresented her disuesses, on account of
her husband being detained from ber at Dr. Fay’s—im-
pured his bchawour to her to have originated from Mirs.
I'ay’s conduct.

Mr. Morrell, stwworn.

k1e states, that on the 28th of November he commenced
asuit against Dr, Iay, by the direction of Goodlad, that
both the husband and w;t" called on him, and rclated their
gricvances ; stated that Dr. Fay refused to give up their
pmperty-—-—‘-\irs Gooedlad said that Mrs. Fav stated that she
was a fool for being so poor, when sue gould go out, and:
earn her ten doilats a-nmight. '

Peter J. Munro, Esq. was next sworn,

Stated that about the 23 of December, Mirs Goodlad
called at his office, told her stery and said that Wakely and
Mrs Fay had bcen too-intimarte, I told her that as ' Mr.
I\Iorrell had commenced the suit, I should act the part of
counsel on the trial of her husband agatust Dr. Fay

Mrs Goodlad was again called
Q s your husband’s family rcspectab;e n England
A They are so, his tather 1s a gentleman of mdcg ndent

fortuna

Q did you bring no letters of introduction to this city

A we did not, because my husband intended, some time-
before he left E'wland to have emigrated to Awmeric, and
his father wrote letters to Col. Troup, requesting him (o
aid and assist Mr. Goodlad on his arrival here.

Q. Has Col. Troup given him-dny assistance ?

A. No, he has not: we called on Col. Lroup, but as we
had no letters to him, he declined patronizing my husband

[/t was then proposed that three or four of the counsel
should g0 and view the situation of LDoctor I'ay's- house, and
eramine the key hole and see if éhe bed could be seen, in the
posttions in which it was said to be placed by Catharine Cut-
sholk and Mrs. Goodlad. On their return, they all agreed
that the bed located in the room as stated by Catharine Cut-
sholk and Mrs. Gosdlad, could not be percogwed by looking
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through the key hole. ~ Mr. Griffen then moved that the jury
be sent (o view the premises, to which the court agreed. O
their return, Mr. Sampson volunteered his evidence respect-
g the affairy and endeavoured to convince the jury from the
marks of violence which were perceptible on the lock, that its
position might have been materially changed—he went into a
Jull ezp!cznanmz of the principles of per Sp:,ctzve and the doc-
trine of propositions, and showed the possibility of the bed
being perceptz'b[e by changing the situation of the lock. |

f homas Goodlad, sworn.

LT fully corroborates his wife’s statement comcerning
their arrival here, and living In various boarding-houses,
from the time he went to board at Dr. Fay 's—he laoked

upon the house as little better than a brothel—from Mrs.
¥ay’s favours, he was induced to quarrel with his wife.

Q Your wife left the house before you

A Yes,she did, and on the Monday following, when I

proposed to visit her lodgings, Mrs IFay requested me not
to go,as / could have any thm.g I wanted, from her.

Q Had you any connexion with Mrs. Fay.

[ To this question the witness refused answering, unless he
obtained a release from the Dactor, which was mstmztb UVECN
by hom. |

A 1had—After some dalliance, she invited me up stairs
- mtomyown bed-room, * * * EK K KKK K K X
Cross-cxamined by Mr. Grifien.
Q Did Dr. Fay ever loan you any money
A Yes; he lent me eight dollars to pay the castom-house
duties on a box of china

Q 1)id you execute a bill of sale of all o property to
Dr. Fay.

A I'did, in order to secure him for the: money which
he advanced

Q Was it not to cheat your wife out of the miserable pit-
tance, which you had along with you ia a foreign country.

A I was afraid that she 1 might dispose of the 1 property

Q When did Mrs. Fay commence her plan of seduction
aﬂmnst you

“A On ‘Thursday ; but I had nothing to do with her, ¢x-
cept on the Monday following

Q Did you attempt to take your ewn life, while in
prison
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A 1 did, in consequence of being in despair, and drink-
ing three half-pints of gin

Q How did you get out of jail

A I took the benefit of the 200 pound act, and Mr.
Wakely endorsed my note to Mr. Morrell for the costs of
suif. . _

Q Did you not say that you was rich, to Mr. Willis ?

A I do not recollect that / did

Q Have you given up your suit, against Fay, to Wakely

A Yes—{ have made it over to him, as security for his
endorsement,

Q Was the box of china your own ?

A No—Dr. Bennett’s brother sep# it to him under my
care, and on 1ts delivery, / was to receive ten pounds,

Q Do you not think you was was a villain to part with
property which did not belong to vou?

A [/ considered it my own.

Q Where do you now board ?

a At 149 Church-strect.

v William Sinclair, sworn.

Became acquainted with the Kay’s in the early part of
last September.  Mrs. Ifay, before three weeks acquaint-
ance, kissed the witness, while singing a song with her—
forced upon him the vanity to believe that she entertained a
strong personal affection for him—assured him she did not
love the doctor, that he treated her very ill, would come ta
- bed with his boots on, &c.—that a Mr. J°Guire arrived
abeut this time from Boston ; tbhat in the course of the
same week of his arrival, 1{'Guire, the Doctor, Afrs. Iay,
and witness, having set up very late playing cards, the wit-
ness staid at the doctor’s, and slept with 3°Guire—remain-
ed in bed n the morning after J/’Guire had risen, and at
about eleven o’clock, the doctor and AL’Guire having gone
out, Mrs. I‘ay came up stairs—after some little time, threw
herself upon the bed—the Court would draw their own
Inferences, as the witness could not bend his feelings to
accept any release from the doctor, as the last witness had
done, nor needed any. Witness soon had his feelings
piqued, for the same attentions he had received from J/rs.
I'ay, he saw, after two or three days’ acquaintance, paid to
M Guire—saw Mrs. Fay kiss A’ Guire—sdw 3°Guire put
his hand on her bosom, &c.—displeascd at such jilting, he
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aadeavoured to vex A'Guire, by taking similar liberties,
on which A’Guire observed, with much sang-froid, < I’m
not jealous, sir.” J‘Guire has since beasted in Baltimore,
of having had connexion with Mrs. Fay,as may be proved
by two respectable gentlemen now in court, A/r. Bush, and
Capt. Merk. On Wakely’s going to board at Fay’s, soon
suspected, and learnt, that Wakely also had become a fa-
vorite, Irom that time, astonished at such conduct on
the part of Mrs. Fay, witness made his visits less frequent,
and gradually left off going to their honse— Witness had
been a standing joke at his boarding-house, in consequence
of Mrs. Fay’s so{requently sending for him, as might be
proved by a very respectable gentleman, Dr. Burps, then
in Court—auad always been strengly suspected by most of
his friends, of being a particular faveurite of Afrs. Fay’s—
had been constantly jeercd and joked by them—particu-
larly remembers, long before the alleged rape, that on men-
tioning to a highly respectable young gentleman, 44r. John
omith, and Mr. Peter Dempsey, clerk to Thomas Smith,
Esq. the clerk tm chancery, that witness had heard a report
of Dr. Iay’s having got a writ for 10,000 dollars against
Goodlad, for defaming mrs. Fay’s character—the report
uaturally'.led to 3 conversation' about Mrs. ifay—that they
joked the witness as usual, and 7o doubt must <have
imbibed the same impressions, as the court must have
done, from the narration the witness had given—Mr.
Dempsey was in court, and might corroborate this state-
ment— Witness gave to the Court the names of gentle-
men who might corroborate any part of his testimony as &
malicious report had been industriously spread, that a com-
bination had been formed to screen the prisonerfrom justice,
at thehead of which they had placed the witness—(Onbeing
questioned by mr. munro, as to a knowledge of a parti-
cular mole on wmrs. Fay—replied in the afirmative.) Re-
lated that mrs. Fay had often mentioned, what the witness
thought malign traits in the Doctor’s character-—that of nis
frequently getting up in the midst of night, and in dark-
ness, sitting bours by himself. Witness stated that the
Doctor would often talk of a dageer, ¢xtending his hand
out, as if in the possession of one, and with dark,
malevolent, energy of gesture and expression, would ex-

clait, I have a dagger for some damned vylain, -
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Witness had seen ars. Fay once since Wakely'sarrest, bs-
fore the commencement of the criminal prosecution—in
the course of the conversation, she observed, Wakely had
better make it up. That the witness was soul impelled, by
the self and oollective knowledge he possessed of the char-
acters of mrs. Fay and her husband, to appear and confess
the moral impropriety of hisconduct, to save the prisoner
from this outrageous prosecution—felt sorry for the degra-
dation of mrs. I'ay—but he sacrificed his feelings to his
duty—to humanity.

Cross-cxamined by Mr. Griffin and the Attorney-General.

Q How long have you resided in this country

~ A Since the beginning of September last

Q Who is Mr. Wakely ? * _ |

A AnEnglishman, and a farmer—he arrived in America
1 believe in June last

@ How did you become acquainted with him

A Till he went to Fay’s we boarded in the same house

Q Were you not his gambling companion _

A No—but I have frequently played billiards with him.

Q Were you not his'whoring companion ?

A No, never—but I went with him at his request to play
a game at whist, without being aware where I was going
~—did not stay—nor did we play. Once waited fer him
some little time at another place, where he promised to
call-——Never stayed in any house with him.

QQ Well then since your arriva] you have been generally
occdpied playing billiards ?

A Nosuch thing ; I have employed most of my time in
Mr. Thomas Smith’s office, without receiving any emolu-
ment—without expecting to receive any—for my own
pleasure and employ.

Q Hasnot Wakely paid your board while you have been
acquainted with him? -

A The insinuation is false—7 have always paid my own
—-If he had, my pride should be sacrificed to the sacred obli-
gations of an oath.

Q How have you lived since your arrival, not being in
business R

A Irom my private funds.—{ Here the witness tendered
@ detail of lumself ; but the Atlerney-General stated, he
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wished specific answers (o hus queries, as he thought 1t necesr
sary to examine in the closest possible manner—QOn which, the
Recorder remarked, that he had a rioht to do so ; but the
witness had also a right to answer in the fzd[mt possible
manner. |

Q Did you not go with your companion Charles Tooker,
on the night of the eighteenth of December, to the house
of Dr. Fay.

A. He is not my companion ; nor did 7 go with him—
I learned on returning home, about eleven o ‘clock, that
ke had been’ partlcularly enquiring for me—that he was
just gone to Dr. lay’s—7 followed him to prevent any
thing rash,-and in the hope of collecting some information
respectmfr Mzr. Wakely, whomn at thai time I had not seen
since his arrest. 1 found Tooker waiting up stairs for the
Dr. who was in the adjoining bed room. 7/ requested him,
finding Fay was not up, to come away; but he refused.
While 7 was yet requesting, and he still refusing, Fay
came in, with only a great coat over him. TOOktI‘ en-
quired if it were true, what he had heard about Wakely ;
the Doctor gave an evasive answer ; on which Tooker abu-
sed him. Fay immediately made a plunr"e at Looker: { par-
ried the blow ; and in fact succeeded in getting '1ooker out
of the room; butashe approached the head of the stairs,
the Doctor rushed by me; attempted to force Tooker
down the stairs—a scuffle ensued : Tocker pulled him hard
by the nose ; I'ay called out for me ; at the moment, / was
loo'kmg for my hat but before Z could aet to them, they
had tumbled towether down the stairs : 7 called and ear-
nestly lmplored them to desist ; they did desist after a few
seconds. Tooker went away, and / followed ott after
him. [7therefore had ne hand in the squabble, nor ever
had any personal animosity to the Doctor.

Q. Well then, you went with Charles Tooker.

A. No, I did not go with any one, [/ followed another.

- Q. Well then, the Doctor was knocked up, you heard
the loud Lnockmﬂr -
" A. How could 7 have heard Lnockmg—-—-—-[ stated he
was In some time before me.

Q. Wellthen, the doctor camé down stairs.

A. Mo, he did not come down, he came 1n: I menti-
ened hefore, the rooms were adjoining.
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Q. Did you not think the disdosing of mrs. Fay’s infidel-
?5'ty, if it should reach his ears, would harrow up the feel-
ings of her husband.

A. No—ndeed, 1 did not.

Q. Do you know where the Goedlad’s live at present.

A. No, 7 donot. '

[ Some other questions were put by Mr. Ggiffin, to this wit-
ness—obut the Recorder observed it only appeared to be a trial

of skl betrween $iem—and that they were not particularly
relevant. |

Mr. Andrew Smith, sworn.

He says, that he boarded several months in Dr. Fay’s
family, previous to the beginning of December last-—that
Wakely also boarded in the house ; and gives Mrs. Fay an
cxcellent character, both as a wife, and as a modest and
industrious weman—has seen Mr. Sinclair there frequent-
ly, but never saw any thing indecent or immodest in Mrs.
Yay’s conduct. He left the house about the 8rd of De-
cember, and as Dr, I'ay owed him money, purchased half
of a box of china from him, for twenty dollars.  As the box
contained a complete set, was induced some days after to
- purchase the remainder. Boarded in the house more than
three months, and thinks that he cannot be mistaken re-
specting the excellenee of Mrs. Yay’s character—knows
~Mr. and Mrs. Goodlad, and considers them both to be
base and unprincipled people. Their cenduct while at Dr. -
Fay’s, induced him to form this opinion, which he has had
no proof to induce him to alter since that time.

Mrs. Sarah Test, sworn. -

Says, that she is housekeeper to Bishop Prevoost, and
nas been acquainted with Mrs, Fay ever since her arrival
in this city, which will be two years next May—that she
rented the store in front of Dr. Fay’s for a milliner’s shop,
and on Mrs. Fay’s commencing house-keeping, boarded
there for three months-—since she left Chatham-street, has
been intimate with mrs. Fay, and visited her at all times of
the day—knows her to be a modest, industrious, and do-
mestic woman, and considers heran excellent character—
often advised her not to work so hard, as she was often
without @ servant. One of the Jury asked the witness if
she knew how wmrs. Fay used to garter her stockings, te

which she replied, that she gartered them below the knee.
' o
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n mrs. Test’s evidence being finished—mr. Munro so-
lemnly asked her-—madam, 1 have a more important ques~
tion than any that has yet been pat to you—FPray how does
~ Bishop Prevoost ? A lavgh ! |

Mr. Jonathan Fay, swer:.

Relates, that he has been acquainted with Dr. Fay for
two years. On his arrival in New-York, he introduced
himself as his relation. They are second cousins—board-
ed in bis house, and commenced the practice of physic.
After he had got some employment, he sent for his wiga, of
whom he always spoke withr aftection, and fromall that he
ever saw, considers Mrs. Yay a good housewife, and a vir-
tueus woman—never heard of any quarrel between the

- husband and Mirs. Fay, except that the doctor once called
on him, and expressed his jealousy of her, in an impassion-
ed manner, and said samething about a lerter, and a lock
of hair ; he treated the matter lightly, and endeavoured te
laugh him out ot his puerile jealousy.

[ Adjourned till to-morrow at 10 ’clock.]

-w .__-_ '-—H

- Proceedings of Wednesday, the 21st.

Mr. John Willis, sworn.

States, that Goodlad and his wife boarded about a week
at his house—that she pretended to be pregnant, and staid
almost constantly in her room, and that he seldom saw
her. They pretended to be people of property, but left
my house clandestinely—did not say to what lodgings they
were about to remove to, but Mr. Goodlad returned two
days after, and gave me his note for the amount due by
‘them, and spoke about a box of china which he had for
sale—has never yet paid it.  He then told me that his wife
had abused Mrs. Fay, in consequence of which she had.
turned her out of doors. -

Mr. John B. Poles, sworn.
Says, he 18 Dr. Fay’s neighbour, and believes Mrs, Fay
- to be agood and virtuous woman. The doctor told him
that some perscn was his enemy, and wished to  destroy
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him ; and said, in consequence of this, he carried a dag-
ger, which he saw. '

o "Stephen Price, Esq. sworn, >
- And proved, Mrs. C. Goble to be an excellent charac-
ter—she had formerly been his nurse.

Myr. Robert M*Mernomy, storn.
~ Says he never saw Mrs. Fay but once. It wason the
4th of December, that he calied at Dr. Fay’s, an business,
~and that Mrs. Fay conducted herself with great propriety.

Mrs. Mary Van Allen; sworn.

Keepsa boarding house. = Goodiad and hiswife board-
ed with her upwards of a month~—they frequently disa-
greed, and the husband on these occasions would often
say that eshe was ar her old tricks. Their conversation was
often indelicate, and offensive tothe ear of medesty ; but
never saw any thing 1n her conduct to justify an opinion
that she was a harlot, and imputed their quarrels to jeal-
ousy, and their poverty, for they had no money, and could
not keep them any longer on that account. Heard Mrs.
Goodlad say she had one child, and had been likely for
five. Heard several peoplesay Mrs. Goodlad was a bad
woman. - ik

Cadwallader D. Colden, Esg. sworn.
Gave Miss Test an excellent character, as a woman of
virtue and veracity. AT
Mrs. Frances Durell, stworn.
 Testifies, that for 18 months, she has been intimate with:
Mrs. Fay—frequently called at her house at all times of
the day, and never observed any thing in her conduct that
appeared Jike levity of manners.. Considers her a much
abused woman, and one who has, since the term of their
acquaintance, acted the part of an industrious, domestic,
virtuous, housewife.  Indeed, she was not only plain in
her dressand manners, but often injured her health, by do-
ing the hard work of the family, as she was often without
a servant.. :
Mrs. Rebeeca Fay was again examined.

Stated, that she was only twenty-three years of age—
was born at Lexington, and when an infant, her father re-
moved to Bedford, in the state of Massachusetts, and ge-
nerally regided in his family, until her maraage, except the
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time that she wasat a Boarding-school, and visiting her
brother at Bolton. After marriage, kept house several
years—broke up house-keeping, in consequence of her
husband’s arrest, and returned to Bedford, about twenty-
five miles distant, and there constantly resided during the
time of the separation between her husband and herself,
except paying once or twice short visits to her friends and
relatious at Boston, Bolton, aud the neighbourhood, but
never resided at New-Hayen, anu never saw Hartford—
was never there in her life—neither did sheé ever see or
know any thing about a Mrs. Pope,and a Mrs. Raymond,
nor did she ever live 1in the same house with them at Hart-
ford.—[ Here Mrs. Iay's child was introduced, a boy of four
years old, which she said had been constantly with her in all
her journeyiues, and that until she left Massachusetts, te
come to New-York, she had never been 40 mules from her fa-
ther, who is a farmer,in the town of Bedford.

Avmy Nielson, @ coloured woman, sworn and examined.

[ The extraordinaru nature of Aimy’s testimony, excited @
pery great degree of sensatiou among the: friends and rela-
tives of the persons concerned in the prosecution, as well as
among the numerous spectators, -for the Court was crowded
every day during the trial.  The substance of her testimony
25 as follows. | _

Q. Did you ever live in Hartford or New-Haven.

A Yes: in both. I lived with Mr. Imlay, who was
loan-officer at Hartford, for four years, and took care of
his children. .

Q Did you ever see Dr. Yay and his wife there

A Yes: they lived in a white house, next door to Mr.
Imlay’s, along with a Miss Raymond and Miss Pope: the
house belonged to Mr, Imlay,

Q Do you perfectly recollect that they resided at Hart-
ford ? ‘ |

A Yes, [do: I was frequently inthe house, while they
were there, as I had the care of the children: but they
onlv staid about ¢nree weeks. |

lere she was confronted with Mrs. Fay, whom she re-
cognized : shewas also requested to point out Dr. I'ay, who
was then out of Court ; when he came in, she immediately
designated him, and further related,  that the house was re-'
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puted one of bad fame—rthat 1t was wn the Spring when they
resided there, about the month of Apriz, and is nearly three
years ago—that Mr. Pope hired the house of Mr. Imlay
some time before, bul did not take possession of it until the
month of April, when Dr. Fay, his wife, Miss Raymond, and
Miss Pope all moved in at the same time—that afler thrée
week’s residence, they eloped in the night, and were saiwd to
have gone to New-York—that they were qll prostitutes ; and,
before they went away, heard Miss Raymond advise them to
go to New-York, saying, that they conld do much better there
—that she has seen Miss Raymond and Miss Pope in lhe
street, but no where else since her coming here—that she also
saw Dr. Yay and his wife once at their house in New-York,
where she went to get a tooth extracted and knew them both,
Jrom thewr living in Hartford—ithat this happened a year ago
last fall—that she knows this because Ralph [saacs, who she
says s her father, was in New-York at the time—that she is
his natural cluld and goes by her mother’s name—that the re-
port was at Hartford, that the cause of their leaving it so
suddenly was, that the ladies had taken up goods n another
person’s name, from Mr. Galladet—that she heard him tell
her master so, and they went away during the succeeding
mght—rthat she also heard MNr. Wadsworth tell Mr. Imlay
that Dr. Yay was a forger—that she tnexw Mr. Pope very
well—he was a journeyman coach-maker, and his wife proved
to De a light woman.”

When ¢ross-cxanined, she appeared to be very much
confused respecting dates, on which the counsel summed
up her history, and the time where she had lived since
that period, and made it about four years since she left
Hartford. Her account is, that her master, Mr. Imlay,
died five weeks after Dr. Fay and the ladies eloped—she
left Hartford immediately afterwards, and came to Butler’s
at New-Haven, and resided there two years—that she has
lived one year with Mrs. Saltonstall in New-York—went
to the southward, four months, with a fanfiiy—lived in
Orange-street, several months, and was supported by a
Frenchman, of the name of Frinckman—finaily they quar-
relled, and she went out to service—has lived 3 months
with John A. Graham, esq.—[I'rom her incorrectness re-
speclting dates, nokaithstanding that she related her story
very. circumstantially, great doubt was excited by her test:-



5%

!

mony. ]—-—-Mr De Castro- was called forward to prove that
she had lived at New-kiaven with Mr. Butler, twoor three
vears ago, and recognized her fully. It was also proved
b} the lady of the family where she now resides, that the
witness only knew of the trial by accident, a few days pre-
vious to her being called on, as a witness; and related to
her, at the time, the story of Dr. and Mrs. Fay living in
Harttord—in consequence ot which, Col. G. heard of 1t—
mentioned 1t to Mr. Wilson, one of the prisoner’s counsel,
who had subpanaed her onlv the evening before, but had
little or no opportunity to examine the amount of her tes-
timony or to what it would tend.
Dr. Proudfit, sworn.

Stated, that at the request of Mr. Wilson, one of the
prisoner’s counsel, he visited Mr. Wakely, who was con-
fined in the debtor’s prison, on the 18th of December
jast. That he appeared surprised at the witness telling
inm, that the object of his visit was to examine him
We went 1nto a private room, and he submitted to my ex-
amination. "+ After a mature investigation of the subject,
and remaining with the prisoner about twenty minutes—
after carefully inspecting his linen, which appeared to
have been worn some time ; and taking every possible
precaution against concealment : I pronounced him per-
fectly free from gonorrhcea, or any symptoms attending
the dlsease-—-(here the Doctor entered into a dissertation
respecting the nature, the symptoms, and the cause of the
disease)—and gave it ashis deCIded opinion,that a man of
Wakely’s habits could not have communicated it to mrs.
Fay only a fortnight before, and be at the time of the ex-
amination he und:,rwem perfectly cured of the com-
plaint. During the course of his observation and practice,
he had sometimes seen very slight cases cured in a very
few days, but it generally took, in common cases, about
three weeks to effect a cure, and in many instances it re-
quired a much 'ongertime. Ie wastherciore of opinion,
that although it was within the circle of possibilities, it
was by no means probable that mr. Wakely had the com-
plaint on the 5th of December last, and that he had comni-
municated the same to mrs. Iay.

( To prove the old saying true, that Dectorswill difier,)

L]
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Dr. Walker was then sworn. .
Stated, that it was impossible for a physician to discover
whether a person labering under an ordinary contagious
gonorrheea, was infected or not, provided the person so af-
. fected had 4 disposition to conceal 1t : that he could avoid

detection by passing urine immediately preeeding the time
of examination, and by denying that  he had any symp-
toms’ peculiar to that disease, and that a cure was general-
ly effected in 7 or 14 days.

Dr. Bullus called and sworn.
The object of calling Dr. Bullus, the Navy agent, was

to prove the hand-writing of Gen. Dearborne, Secretary
at War; which he did. This letter was an answer to one

which Dr. Fay had written, and of which a copy was pro-
duced in Court, soliciting a surgeon-mate’s birth, in the

army or navy. ILhe copy was dated in Philadelphia in
the month of February, 1807, and the answer was address-

ed to Dr. Cyrus Fay, Philadelphia, dated at the city of
Washington in the month of April following. The inten-
tion of producing these letters was to disprove that the Dr.
resided at Hartford, in April, as asserted by Aimy Nielson,
the colored woman, whose testimony has been given in
the preceding pages.

On Dr. Yay's being questioned,

He asserted, that he passed through Hartford in the stage,
but only stopped to dine, while on-hisjourney to attend the
medical lectures of Drs. Barton and Rush, at Philadelphia,
and that he was never there before nor since—that he
boarded while in Philadelphia at mrs. Gideon’s, in Cherry
street ; on leaving Philadelphia, he came to Bordentown,

N. J. and taught a young ladies’ academy there, and from
thence he came to New-York, and commenced practice,
and has resided here ever since. '

Jonathan Burrell, Esq. stwworn.

The reason that mr. Burrell was called as an evidence
en this oecasion, was to ascertain the period when mr. Im-
lay, late loan-officer at Hartford, died; in order that Aimy
Neilson’s evidence might either be corroborated or invali-
dated. | , &

wmr. Burrell stated, that the U. S. Branch Bank had honor-

ed drafts of mr, Imlay’s in June, 1807, and that a treasury
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warrant was issued the 15th Aug. followingin his favor, that -
another was 1ssued for his successor, on the 24th of Sept.
Of course he must have died within the time of these last
dates—viz : between the 15th of August, and the 24th of
September, 1807.

Thomas Smith, Esq. sworn,

Became acquainted with mr. W. Sinclair on returning
_ to town, on Monday after the opening of the’Court of Chan-
cery, being the 6th of Novemberlast. Understood he had
employed himself in assisting mr. Dempsey in the office,
for his amusement ; that mr. Sinclair had attended his son,
mr. John Smith, as a friend, during his sickness ; had re-
ceived him as an inmate at histable, treated him rather as
a son of the family, than a stranger; in every transaction
had found him honest, correct, and honorable.

Mr. P. Dempsey, sworn.

Says he has been in friendship with Mr, Sinclair sinee
the first of his arrival in this country ; always found him
the gentleman ; that mr.S. had spent much of his time in
voluntarily assisting in mr. Smith’s office ; gave mr. Sinclair
a high character ; said, that in consequence of being joked
about mrs. I'ay, by mr. Smith, Jun. and himself, while con-
versing about a suit, that he understood Dr. I'ay had com-
menced againstone Goodlad, for detaming mrs. Fay’s cha-
racter ; the witriess had no doubt that mr. S, had received
favors from mrs. Fay ; was present at his examination, and
what mr. S. had related, that had a reference to the wit-
ness, was certainly true ; the conversation alluded to, oc-
eurred in November last.

d

John 1. Smith, jun’r, esq. sworn. _

Knew wmr. Sinclair since last October : entertained an
excellent opinion of him: he had been intimate 'In their
family : had been accustomed to ieave him in the office to
receive the fees of the office: had found him a man of ho-
nor, both in his word and in his dealings : gave mr.S. a
high character; and corroborates the circumstance of the
conversation about mrs, Fay, between himself, mr. DDemp-
scy and Mr. 5.

. Cross-examined by Mr. Grifin.

Q Would you trust him now, sir?
A Sir, I would trust him with my life
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e Mr. Zadock Seally, sworn. -

On being questioned what he knew about mrs. Fay, he
stated, he knew no harm of her; but as his bed-room
fronted Dr. Fay’s house, he got up gather Jate on a Sunday
morning : the bells were then ringing for church, and the
sun shene clearly on the opposite side of the street : looking
out at his bed-room window, over which a curtain was
placed, except a small space which was torn, about the
breadth of a dollar or the palin of his hand, he perceived
mrs. Fay gartering her stockings : the object of vision

~strongly impressed his mind and he could not forget the
circumstance, that hessaw mrs. Fay garter ab,p\’e the knee :
distinctly perceived it, because she placed a chair exactly
ronting one of the windows, and raised first cne foot on
the chair and put on the stocking and gartered it, and
then the other foot.
| | Mrs. Poles, sworn.

Gave mrs. Fay an excellent character ; says she has
been shehtly acquainted with her some time, and consid-
ers her a notable woman. |

Mrs. Awh Brower, sworn,

She affirms that Dr. Fay stated on Thursday evening
last, that Wakely would be disappointed in his principal
witness ; that Mr. Sinclair® and Tooker were in jail, and
thdt Goodlad and his wife were also there ; and that he had
a principal hand in their confinement-—has seen Mrs. Fay
—Lknows nothing of her.

Mr. Michael Henry, ssworn.

He states that he only once visited at Dr. Fay’s, along
with Mr. Painter; and on the 7th of December last was at
Mr. Martin Tooker’s, by Tooker’s invitation, Mr. Pain-
ter and Walkely were also there, for they had all been in-
vited to spend the cvening at Tooker’s house ; afterwards
Dr. Fay came to Mr. Tooker’s to enquire for some one of
the party: they spent their time sociably at cards, after
which it was proposed that they should adjourn to eat sup-
per at the Shakspeare—perceived that the Doctor and
Wakely were particularly friendly; and that during the
supper Dr. Fay helped himself to oysters out of Wakely’s
plate; they drank freely together, and afterwards went

~away, as he believes, arm in arm tog€ther !
* NIr, Sinclair NEVER WAS IN JAIL.
H .
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i Mr. Martin Tooker, stwoin. -
Mr. Tooker states that he saw the prisoner at the bar fox
the first time at Mr. Painter’s on the 7th ef Dec. last, and
‘was there introduced to him. Mrs. Tooker being unwell,
~ he invited Mr. Painter, Mr. Henry, and Mr. \-\?ake]y to
- spend a passing hour with him. Dr. Fay called at his
house to enquire for some one of the party, but thinks it
was for L*Ir.ql’ainter: it was the first time he had ever seen
Dr, Fay. After being invited into the parlour, the prisoner
and the Dr. appeared to be on the best terms of friendship
~—they played at cards together, and Wakely went to the
- sideboard and helped the Dr. to what he wished to drink ;
afterwards weadjourned to the Shakspeare, and had a sup-
- per of beefsteaks and oysters: the Dr. and Wakely ap-
peared extremely friendly on the occasion, and invited me
to come and see them at the Doctor’s house. A few days
afterwards I went there to spend am evening—Mr. Painter
went with me-—Wakely was there; the Dr. afterwards
came ‘in, and also Mr. D. Longworth ; we sat down to
whist and stayed till midnight. When about to depart,
the Dr. requested us to take some supper, when Wakely
went into the next room, along with the little boy, and
cooked pork steaks. During our game at whist, Wakely
and myself and Fay and Painter were partners; we play-
ed for ashilling a game, and I understood that it was -at
the Doctor’s request, Wakely went into the next room te
cook the pork steaks, which was Mrs. Fay’s bed room—
understood Mrs. Fay was'indisposed at the time. |
_ Cross-examined.
Q. Did you play on the piano forte that evening ?
A. lattempted to play, but I know very little of music.
Q. Wasthe bed chamber door open in order that Mrs,
Fay might hear? _ .
A. I perceived it frequently open: the Dr.opened it
several times, and the prisoner also. g
Q. Did you perceive the Dr. very much agitated that
evening ° '
A. No, Idid not ; we passed the whole of the evening
pleasantly. _ . '
: Mr. M, Nestell, sworn. |
Says, he has been acquainted with Mrs. Fay and her
husband for some time past; speaks in high terms of mrs,



Fay, and says he never had any reasom to suspect her virtue,
that he had frequent opportunities to see her, and that she
never gave him any reason to suspect that she was alight
woman. Finally, he thought her a modest, virtuous, and
amiable character. ~(Being asked by wmr. Griffin what he
knew of the last thness, Mr. 7. See]y ?) said he knew very
little of him.  Being pressed, as to mr. Seely’s religious
opinions, he said he would rather not reply to the question..
vr. Griffin still demanding an explanation to his questien,
he replied, that n conversing with mr. Z. Seely, on the
subject of religion, mr. Seely “said, that when a man was
dead, hisearthly remains were no bs.,tter than a brute,a cow,
Or a hng—-m[()n which M. Sampson humorously observed that
Seely was right, because a good piece of beef, or a fat hog,
was better than the carcase of any dead man. |

Mr. Andrew Smith was agan called.

Stated that he understood in the family of Dr. Fay long
before the alledged rape, that the prisoner was diseased ;.
also, that he understood the two servant maids Catharme

Cutsholk and Agnes White were turned away by Mrs.
ldy

Mr. Logan, sworn. -

Stated he wasa nelghbour, and has known Dr. Fay

and his wife for some time past ; that he had visited them

three times, and mr. Fay frequently called in asa nelcrh-

bour. Always considered nmrs. Fay, from the slight ac-

quaintance that subsisted been our families, as neighbors,
that she was a good, honest woman.

(HERE THE EVIDENCE CLOSED.)

Mr. Sampson, in a Speech of two hours and a half,

Jraught with argument and genuine humour, commenced
' the defence of the prisoner., ()zzr limils do not permit us
to furnish a full report of any of the 5]05667363 we shall,
therefore, only cive a brief summary of the arguments used

by each of the Counsel, for and against the defendant, on
this important eccasion.

After reading a passage from Blackstone’s Commen-
taries, Low vs. Jolen, concerning the nature of the crime
*ﬂledged agamst the prisoner ; he again brought before '
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the Jury, the same passage in M“Nally’s Rules of Evi-
dence, which Mr. Munro had read; on opening the de-
fence, and commented considerably upon 1t—He also in-
troduced Sir Matthew Iale, asauthority, that, according
to the old, upright principles of law, the crime against
the prisoner had not been proved. Mr.S. then described
the nature of the punishment, to which the law of the
land subjected a criminal convicted of a rape—and feel-
ingly descanted on the heart-rending miseries peculiar to
being sentenced to imprisonment for lite. e depicted
the punishment 1n all the glowing colours, with which a
vivid fancy, and a feeling heart could represent it—and
aptly introduced Sterne’s inimitable story ot the Prisoner,
adding every day a notch with his rusty natl, to the Jong
catalogue of the miseries of tedious confinement.

He said that the whole of the unconnected story, told
by the prosecutrix, reminded him of Sanche’s trial before
the king of Batraria, tor a similar oflence. Sancho was
brought before, the throne of the monarch, and a woman
swore a rape against him—and minutely stated all the cir-
cumstances attending it.  To put an end to her rattling
tongue, the kirg ordered Sancho to deliver her his purse—
on which she curtseyed silently, snuled, and retired
The monarch then ordered Sancho, to go and take the
purse from her, and bring 1t back to him—He went—
and returned with a scratched face, and a bloody nose—
and as an apology for not bringing the purse, told the king
that the woman would mot part with it, and that she bad
beat him most unmercitully, while he was attempting to
obey his majesty’s orders. The king on this acquitted
Sancho, alledging, that if the woman could so courageous-
ly beat bim oft, while attempting to regain his purse, he
could never have robbed her of ber virtue against her wijl.

He then commenced a sgvere critic on the evidence
produced in behalf of the presecution—and used_ all his
imgenuity to invalidate the testimony of the Witnesses,
who had been sworn. Il¢ was particularly severe on Dr.
Yay, and stated that a man who had forfeited his liberty,
pe%haps his life, in one state, could never l’_)e a good and
virtuous citizen in apother : aud his keen 1rony was also
dirccted against the testimony given by Mrs. Fayv—As to
the lady she had not agted the part of the Roman Matron,
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the immortal Lucretia, who, when ravished by the tyrant
Tarquin, nobly sacrificed herseli—wliich had so great an
effect upon the public mind, that the despot was dethroned,
and by ber deed, her country was freed trom an usurper’s
voke. He next noticed the téstimony of the nurse Dor-
cas, endeavouring to prove her an inconsistent and incred-
Hable witness.

He lashed with attic wit, the Attorney-General and Mr,
Griffin, who had charged on the prisaner, the crime of
combining and bribing witnesses, to arrest the course of
public justice, and screen himselt from the rigours of the
law—and endeavoured to convince the court and jury,
that they were misled by the prejudices of their sex; 1n fa-
vor of the female character. Ile denied that there wasg
any conspiracy formed by the prisoner or his counsel |
Paid a high compliment to Mr. J. 'T. Smith, for the SpITit
ed and handsome manner he had spoken to the character
of Mr. Sinclair, on whose “testimony and conduct, Mr.
Sampson passed the strongest encomiums, declaring that
had he withheld-his testimony, seeing 2 man so infamously
prosecuted as was the prisoner—he would have deserved
execration-—he would have been inhuman.  Mr. Samp-
son then reviewed in a masterly manner, the body of evi-
dence produced in behalt of the prisoner. In detail he
serupulously weighed it 5 and after again adverting to the
testimony against hiim, he compared it with that given in
his favor—and finally, finding that his client had the ba-
lance on his side of the scale, made a strong, a forcible
appeal to the Court and Jury for his acquittal.

[ Although nis Speech is taken werbatim, it is concerved un-
mecessury to give it fully 5 but it s our opinion, that Mr.
Sampson did amyp'e justice to nis client and his cause ; and
we rejoice in having an vpportunity, to bear testimony to his
erudetion and Ius talents.  He is an acquusilion, and an or-
nament to the country in which he resides. |

Mr. George Wilson then rose, and addressed the Jury.

Alter taking a survey of the nature of the crime alledg-
ed against the prisoner at the bar, and descanting on the
dreadful punishment which would attend conviction, he
proceeded to investigate the testimony which had teen
produced, to substantiate the charge.
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He euntered largely into Mrs. Fay’s story, and endewm
voured to prove her evidence inconsistent—and therefore
incredible.  He showed;that however respectable the evi-
dence were, who had been brougkt forward, to patch
her character, and tinker her reputation, there had been
testimony equally respectable produced in behalf of the
prisoner, to shew that she was not the character—the vir-
tuous character that her witnesses had represented. Ad-
mitting that the witnesses adduced in support ef her char-
acter, had spoken the truth, (and he was not disposed to
disbelieve them) still from his acquaintance with the
world—still he knew how easy 1t was for the depraved and
vicious to assume a fictitious character—T'he wanton harlot
could put on the semblance of modesty, and the hnished
Messalina, could best entrap, under the guise of inno-
cence and virtue—it was not even the interest of the cor-
rupt to triumph openly in vice. It must be recollected by
the court and jury, that the witnesses brought forward to
support the reputation of Mrs. Fay, were all, what may be

denominated passing visitors ; and therefore it became her
interest to preserve a reputation, and a character in their

presence. But those produced on behalf of the prisoner,
were persons who had an opportunity of entering into the
secrets of the prosecutrix, and of discovering the baseness
of her conduct, and the infamy of her character.

I{e then attacked the testimony of the Dr. and of Dor-
eas [the black nurse| and endeavoured to show the incon-
sistency and improbability of their tale. According to his
representation of the Dr’s evidence, before the Court and in
~ the presence of the Jury, be bad damn’d himself to ever-
lasting infamy ;” as to Dorcas, he was happy, on his client’s
account, that such a nurse had attended suck alady. She had
indeed acted the part for which she had once before ac-
cording to her own confession, been sent to the care and
safe-keeping of Mr. Hazard—to wit : that of a pimp—a
seducer of innocence—She was therefcre the most proper
of all human beings to become a nurse to Mrs. Fay—and
finally a witness on this occasion. Taking then the whole
of the evidence in behalf of this prosecution into one view,
and as it were stripping 1t of its exuberance, he insisted that
it was impossible, that the Doctor and his wife, after receiy- -
ing such irre parable injury from the prisoner; should con-
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Yinue in warm friendship with him for thirteen days after
the commission of the horrid crime alledged against him—
He renarked particularly on the testimony ef Dr. Fay—
He then appealed to the jury,and asked, if a man amongst
them could have acted the Doctor’s part, in a case wherc
their feelings, their honor and their happiness were so deep-
ly at stake ; that it was not In nature, to imagine a nman $o
callous, so hardened in guilt, so sunk in depravity, as not
immediately to resent so detestable, so villainous an out-
rage, and an injury sounpardonable. He therefore insist-
ed that the story was destitute of truth. ke next comment-
ed on the testimony of Mr. De Castro, and appealed to

the jury, who had an opportunity to examine the situation
of Dx. Fay’s house, and also that of De Castro’s, whether

it was possible, or within the circle of probability, that
the cries—the exclamations, of a woman about to be ra-
vished, would not have rent the ears of De Castro’s family,
situated as they were—as next door neighbours—with only
a slight partition wall to separate the families. He then
reviewed the testimony of Agnes White, and Catharine
Cutsholk, and shewed, that in all material points, they
were consistent. He remarked on that of Goodlad and his
wife, with considerable ingenuity, and then advanced
to what he considered the citadel of the testimony,
in behalf of the prisoner, and took a comprehensive view
of Mr. Sinclair’s evidence, as fortified and supported by
the respectable testimony of Messrs. Smith and Dempsey,
and msisted that his evidence went to impeach the veraci-
ty of Mrs. Fay—that it also pictured in the strongest co-
lors, her loose and abandoned conduct, and that before
they brought in a verdict of guilty against the prisoner at
the bar, they must believe that Mr. Sinclair had been guil-
ty et perjury, which he contended was impossible. He
then paid a compliment to the witness (Mr. Sinclair) and
expatiated on the elegant style in which he had deliveted
his testimony—he approbated the humane, the generous
and disinterested motives which actuated his conduct
‘toward the prisoner, in coming forth on this occasion to
testify to facts, which of necessity evidenced a breach of the
laws of morality in himself as far as it regarded his intima-
Cy with the prosecutrix—yet that he the witness, regardless -
°f minor considerations had sacrificed his own feelings, io

%
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order to effect a great, anoble purpose, that of furthering
the cause of justice, and as far as his testimony went, of
delivering a stranger 1 our land, from the abominable ¢con-
spiracy, tormed by Dr. Fay and his wite, for the purpose,
m the first instance, as the counsel supposed, of extorting
money from the prisoner, and inthe second, of gratifying
their malignant passions, by endeavouring to effect the
prisoner’s conviction, and consequent imprisonment for
lite—a punishment, to a mind of sensibility, more cruel
than death.
| During the whole of this wmportant trial, the laborious
part of the duties devolved on Mr. Wilson ; and if any me-
rit 15 to be attributed to ary one who had been engaged, in
Javor of the prisoncr, (and all the Counsel exerted themselves
Lo the utmost, on the occasion, in hus behalf,) Mr. W. is enti-
tied thereto—Althoush eur limits reluctantly compel us to
give an tmperfect summary of his logical and ingenious speech,
we are happy to have this opportunity to bear testimony to
his industry, his talents, and his rising reputation, as an Ad-
vocale. | '

Mr. Wirkins followed Mr. Wilson 1n behalf of the

prisoner, and placed the subject of the prosccution in a
new and ludicrous pointof view. IHe so happily blended
and amalgamated the testimony of Dorcas, the Doctor and
his wife, and placed the pretended crime in such a ridicu-
lous point of view, as to keep the numerous audience in
. almost a perpetual roar of laughter ; and even on some oc-
casions disturbed the gravity of the court and jury. He,
with that strength of language and pith of irony peculiar
to himself alone, repelled the charge of perjury, and of an
unprincipled combination which was pretended te have
been formed by the prisoner, for the purpose of arresting
the course of justice. He deprecated the idea, that a
stranger and a foreigner should not be protectetd by our
laws, and reccive a fair and impartial trial by a jury of our
country, and entered nto an elaborate survey of the testi-
mony produced in favor of his client : he particularly dwelt
om the merits of Mr. Sinclair, and said that by his evidence,
allowing for argument sake that he had no character be-
fore, he had now completely established one—that he had
made an honorable sacrifice of his pride, and his private
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feelings, to perform one of the noblest offices of hurhanity,
viz. to rescue a fellow creature who was his countryman,
from a punishment which; to a man possessing the common
feelings of our nature, must be considered more crueh—
more excrutiating than death itself. Again adverting to
the testimony in favor of the prosecution, he unequivocaily
stated it as his opinion, that on their part, it was one of the
most selfish and mest avaricious prosecutions that he ever
witnessed—that the husband and the wife had employed
their wits to ensnare and entrap the prisoner, in order to
obtain money ; and that they had acted the part of an
auctioneer in this business, with a purse of gold in one hand
and a piece ofﬂgarchment in the other—'inding that the
bid was not sufhicient to gratify hm principal love of mo-
ney—-morney, money was the object—he knocks down the
purse to blank, and furnishes the parchment to the real
bidder, n order to consign him to a prison for his kinds
ness ! !! |

In speaking of Mr. Sinclair, Mr. W. further observed
that Mrs Iay, had taken some pains to represent that he
was a Musick Master. IHe said that it had been shown
be indubitable testimony that he was no more a music
master than he (Mr. W.) was a dancing master. -

[ Mr. Wilkins, on this occasion, did himself great credit—
We have seldom seen him in a happier humor—and, if a se-
cond edition is printed, we shall certainly give the whole of
fus accrentric and original speech on the occasion. |

My, Munro then addressed the Jary;
in a neat and well digested speech. Adfter travelling over
the same ground that had been trodden by his predecessors,
he, from several indisputable authorities on the subject,
proved that by the rules of law,and the stern principles of
- justice, the charge against the prisoner had not been sub-
stantiated. :

He thea went into the evidence produced on his behalf,
and considered it conclusively in his favour.

After commenting with much severity and great ability
on the charge of conspiracy, by perjury, to eﬂ;;—:ct the pri-
soner’s release—he rapidly reviewed the testimony of the
Doctor, his wite, and of Dorcas, which last witness he con-
tended was a slave. He ably examined their evidence,

{



and finally, hinding that they stood on slippery ground, told
the jury, that notwithstanding the opposite council would
attempt, on this occasion, to awaken their sensibility, and
enlist their passions in their favour, yet as they appcared,
from their own acknowledgment, to have been birds of
passage, they might retire to the DBritish possessions on
our continent, or emigrate to a southern chimate, and again
unite, 1n one house, and in one family, the fane of Venus
with the temple of Ksculapius.

[ 1t @5 but justice lo Mr. Munro, to declare, that al-
thoush hus reputation stands high, he 18 one of the best cross-
exanuners we ever heard ; and that in this walk, e consi-
der him the GARROW, of the American bar.]

Mr, MaxwserL associating with  Mr, Riker and Mr,
Gniffin in favor of the prosecntion, in behalf of the peo-
pie, opened the summing up on their side. '

His speech was well adapted to rouse the feelings and
excite the prejudices of the jury in favor of a young, a vir-
tuous, and a much injured woman ; while his own high
sense of honor led him to pourtray the husband (Dr. Fay)
as a contemptible, crawling, foot-licking sycophant, to the
ravisher of his guiltless wite. He then reviewed the testi-
mony in favor of Mrs. Fay’s character and conduet, and
appeared convinced that a jury of his country would give
it entire credence, and find a verdict against the prisoner.,
On the other hand, he took a survey ot the testimony pro-
duced 1in favor of the prisoner, and endeavoured to prove
that there had been a dark conspiracy formed, to destroy
the fair fame and reputation eof an innocent and injured fe-
male, and concluded by a pathetic address in favor of the
prosecution, -

{Mr. M. did great credit te himself by his speech. He is
a young Barrister-of great promise, and we regret that our
limils do not permat us lo enter fully into the detail of his ar=
guments on this occasion. } |

M=r. GRIFFIN sur?céeded Mr. Maxwell, and addressed
the jury, nearly as follows. . | .
Gentlemen of the Jury.

We have now reached the period of this eventful -
drama, when it becomes my duty to address you. Oiten



and justly have you been reminded of the importance of
this trial to the prisoner at the bar. Your own seasibili-

ties must have taught you the pathetic lesson of its import-
ance to the prosecutrix. If the prisoner be innocent, jus-
tice forbids that he should be convicted. Butif he 1s in-
deed guilty ; if to the offence of polluting the person of this
unfortunate woman, he has superadded the inhuman crime
of combining a band of wretchesto pollute her character,
you will feel it a privilege to consign him to the state pri-
son for life.  To turn him again locse upon society, would
be treason against humanity : justice would revolt and
mercy herself become indignant at his acquittal. But at
this Jate hour of the night, and sinking as you perceive me
under the fatiguee of this protracted trial, 1 will not indulge
myself in any range of general remark. Peimit me at
once to invite your attention to the testimony of the princi-
pal sufferer in this affecting tragedy of real ife.  You have
heard her distressing narrative. = {Here Mr. G. briefly re-
capitulated the testimony of Mrs. Fay.] 1ias this woman
perjured herself? A distinguished excellence of our sys-
tem of criminal jurisprudence is, that the jury have an op-
portunity of seeing the witnesses face to face, and observ-
ing the ‘manner of their testifying. You have seen thie
prosecutrix—you have heard her—you have observed her
passing throuch one of the most severe and unrelenting
. Cross-examinations ever witnessed in a court of justice;
~ where to an oppressive minuteness of inquiry were added,
a sternness of voice and intimidating emphasis of manner,
probably better calculated to confound than elicit trath,—
But she bore it all with meekness—she bore it with mag-
nanimity. It was not the province of the broken-hearted
to be proud : the pride of the sex had been torn from her
by the ruflian violence of the ravisher. Was her modesty
that of affectation? Was her assorance that of afirontery ?
It was probably her first appearance in a court of jus-
tice ; and did she not appear in precisely the manner which
we should expect of a woman who came to tell the sad
story of her own undoing ? ~ She informs you that shortly
after the disaster, her husband returned, and she disclosed
it to him, Ile directed her to keep it secret. . Oppressed
with injuries of body and anguish of soul, she sank into a
state of indispositiony which her physicians have told you



| P E _hﬁrg '.-.‘..;- .- -: . 3 _..IE--:-. : .'-;'I. _. _- .

was Serious. Whlle stretched on the bed of sickness, a
magistrate attended, and she made her complaint on
oath. In this perilous situation, do you believe her capa-
ble of insulting her Maker witha lie? Call to mind the
affecting solemnities of asick bed; consider the tremen-
dous 1moression of such a scene on the soul of the guilty,
and then say, whether this woman would have selected the:
bed of serious iliness for the inception of a system of per-
ary.
) But the teatlmony of the husband—he cannot have been
deceived : if the wife be notinnocent, he is a perjured de-
ceiver. He testifies to circumstances which cannot be
true on the supposition of her guilt. He informs you that
on returnmg home after the disaster, he found his wife in
tears ; that, with a breaking heart she told him the story of
her w rongs ; that he discovered marks of brutal violence
on her person ; that at the time of the ravishment, the pri-
soner was diseased, and that his wite knew it. Thls latter
circumstance 1s confirmed by the testimony of Mr. An-
drew Smith, who learnt it in the tamily at a period when
there was no possible inducement to dCCEptIOD The know-
ledge by the prosec,utfl;x of the prisoner’s loathsome com-
plamt repels, with resistless energy, all imputatjon of assent
on her part; for even lust itselt would not be voluntarily
connected with diseass.

The prisoner then is guilty, or this husband and wife -
have forged the tale of her pollution, and confirmed it by
united perjury. Nature revolts at the supposition that hu-
man beings would unite im such a combination without an
adequate motive.  Nothing but a powerful motive couid
extort from the lips of a wite a fabricated story of her cwn
dishonor. Nothing buta motive still more powerful could
induce a husband to unite in a fabrication so humiliating,
Nothing but a motive utterly irresistible could tempt both
wife and husband to ceafirm the fabrication by perjury.—
The dangers of the state prison of this world, and of the
world to come, are not encountered fram mere love of per-
dition. What motive then can be assigned for the unhal-
- lowed combination imputed to this unfortunate paire. It
3s not pretended that they were stimulated by a spirit
of vengeance towards the prisoner. Was it to ex-
tort money? Even the wanton and unnatural aspersions

Acaped upon the prosecutrix by the rufhan associates of the



prisoner, evince that she is nof mercenary. Not one of
them pretends that money was ever given or asked for her
favours. Another fact is extorted from the lips of her de-
famers—she was beloved by her husband. "They accuse
him of loving her even to jealousy. His jealousy 1s a test
of the sincerity of his affection : jealousy is the distempered
child of love. No husband doubts who does not ** doat ;"
none throbs with the agonies of suspicion who does not also
“ strongly love.” If the prosecutrix was beloved by her
husband, would he not have sooner coined his heart than
submit to earn money by her dishonor?  On this point a
jury of husbands cannot listen to argument: they recollect
that they have wives, and feel indignant conviction.—
But if money were the object of the complamt, wiy
has no overture of that tendency been made to the prison-
er? Why, when one of the counsel ot the husband, for
the purpose of testing his sincerity, intimated to him at an
early day, the expediency of accepting two or three thou-
sand dollars and staying proceedings, did he indignantly
repel the suggestion? If money were the object, why
was a criminal prosecution instituted ¢ Recollect the pe-
riod of its commencement—the prisoner was already in
custody on a civil suit at the instance ot the husband for
ten thousand dollars. An eflort had been made on the
part of the prisoner, but without success, to mitigate the

amount : there was no prospect of his obtaining bail—
“he had no alternative but compromise or confinement :
he was at the mercy of the husband. Would a mercena-
ry husband have delivered his victim, thus circumstanced,
into the hands of the public prosecutor 2 Would he have
placed him within the grasp of crimnal justice. where he
had been informed, and well understood, no compromise
could be made ? But there is yet a fact which must re,
move doubt from the mind of suspicion itself—the prison-
er was a poor man ; such his counsel annoynce him ; such
the testimony represents him.  To obtain the amount of
a quarter"s rent, he was compe]led 0 pdWn his watch.—
Had money been the object of the prosecutrix and her hus-
band, they would have selected a iicher vicuim. The
poverty of the prisoner afforded him a sure protectiom
against the machinations of a mercenary combination.

~ How fuily 1s the narrative of the prosecutrix and her
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husband corraborated by the auxiliary festimony of her
two nurses.  Mrs, Gable, whose character is raised above

suspluun enters the family of the prosecutrix the Saturday
after the disaster. Oun the succeeding Monday, she is
wmpeﬂed by a prior t:nrr'tgement to depart Lhe prose-
cutrix 1s not yet indulged with the sad privilege of disclo-
sing her wrongs; but she cannot conceal her anguish, and
her tears. The compassionate nurse inquires the reason of
her grief’: “I cannot tell you now ; but will at some fu-
ture tmw 18 the reply. A black woman by the name of
Dorcas succeeds Mrs. Gable. In changing the prosecu-
trix’s Immnen, she discovers her horrid injuries. . -She asks
the Cause, but is then answered only with weeping. - Af-
terthe pHSOﬁE‘l‘ 1s. removed from the ho IUSCy and the sz_mc-
tion of secrecy imposed by the husband dissolved, the

prosecutrix details to the black woman a circumstantial
narrative of ber mistortune, I'wo gentlemen of high res-
pectability, with whom the black woman has lived, give
her an excellent character, |

ifine truth of this pathetic narrative be not already es-
tablished, beyond the reach of doubt; <« confirmatian sirong
as proof from holy writ” is derived from the testimony of
Di. Hammersley and the other attending physicians.—
These eminent medical gentlemen were (,alled in after the
complaint had been fmrm]]y made, and the przsoner lodg-
ed in confinement.  ‘They found the prosecutiix %erlously
sick : the cause and nature of her indisposition were min-
utely exolamm, and the marks of personal violence cir-
cumstantially detailed to them. = With this relation, the
madical gentlemen inform you, the visible symptams cor--
responded.  They also inform you, that the husband invited .
them to examine the person of his wife.  Would the  hus-
band have dared prongunce thns:rmtauor,j i conscmusthat
the result of the examination woulki have convicted /unm of
hypocrisy and her of perjury ?

But the prisoner was permltted to remain under the
same roof, 1n habits of intimacy with both busband and
wife, for thirteen days after the commission of the alledged
| offcnm This circumstance composes the supposed rock
of the defence 5 here tne counsel for the prisoner entrench
themselves, and hence they triumphantly pour on this de.
voted weman vollies of the most virulent invective.—
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~ That the delay of prosecution is a circumstance ot ap-
parent mystery, 1 readily admit.  But1s it evidential of the
innocence o: the prisoner 2 That is the peint for the con-
sideration of the jury. Oa the 18th day of December the
rape was first publicly announced. If it wer: a fabrica-
tion, the prosecutrix and her husband must have been
aware, that froni the boldness of its character, their desti-
nies were involved in itssuccess; and of course tneir com-
bined skili, must have been deliberately exerted to give 1t
every semblance of reality: thiey would not neediessly
have stamped on its torehead a palpable mark of improba-
bility ; they would not have located the transaction back thir-
teen days.  Why not have fixed iton the preceding even-
ing and charged the prisoper with having wiolated the
sanctuary of a sick bed ? klad the complaint assumed
this form, it would have been invincible ; even innocence
would have been no shield to the prisoner—nothing but a
miracle could have saved him. The intervention, there-
fore, of so much time between the complaint and the
commission of the rape, prove it to be no fabrication. A
fabrication would not have been disfigured with this fea-
ture of improbability. It was ¢ruth, and tru’le alone, that
compelled the prosecutrix and her husband, to involve
their narrative thus in mystery. But why was the prose-
cution so long delayed? Why did the injured husband
permit his righteous vengeance to sleep? Unfortunate
man !—feeble, timid, and tluctuating ; pursued and borne
down by a dreadful secret! e had been driven from
the country of his birth by a charge of forgerv ; he ha'd
fled to this city, and was here endeavouring to re-unite the
fragments of a broken reputation. But the secret of his
youth haunted @nd preyed upon hissoul.  11is wife in-
forms him that she is ravished ; but also informs him, that
the ravisher had triumphantly threatened her,  1f you dare
tell your husband, I can and will ruin you beth.” 'These
tremendous words resound in his ears hke the holliw voice
of a messenger of fate. His affrighted conscienice tells
him—that the prisoner is in possession of the secret
of his shame. The indignant emotions of the hus-
band-—the trepidations of the coward contend in his bo-
som for mastery—fear for a time predominates. He com-
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mands his wife to suppress her anguish, and meet her rae
visiier with a smile.  Most injured, most miserable of wo-
men! With what a rapid succession of misfortunes has
she been overwhelmed—brutally ravished—complaining
of her wrongs to him who ought to be their avenger—
constrained to hold her peace——to weep in secret—to re-
cetve and reciprocate the civilities of her destroyer—to
drink of the wime of his abomination—to be brought at
last before the public eye, involved in a cloud of mystery
—exposed to the derision of the multitude—agonized by
~the suspicions ot the good! Who has sunk her to this de-
gracdation? Who but the prisoner at the bar? Aban-
doned despoiler of female purity! Savage murderer of
domestic peace ! Nature disowns him ! He was not
born of woinan! When the horrid deed was done, no
sentiment of contrition softened his heart—no tear of pity
melied in hiseye. Deliberately he retired to bed—auda-
ciously he remained under the roof, confident in the weak-+
ness of ‘the husband—assured in the aid of his own infer«
nal associates.  You have marked his demeanor—his irre=
verent levities during the affecting solemnities of this trial,
In the sanctuary of justice, (with indignation do I speak
it} has he dared attempt to confound and overwhelm the
sinking victim of his lust, with his basilisk gaze. But 1
trust the hour of retribution 1s at hand. _ |
" Inhuman is the effort which has been made to impeach
the character of the prosecutrix. Who are the witnesses
to support the impeachment ¢ High in station among them
stands an intidel and blasphemer-—a being who holds that
the grave is | he place of eternal sleep, and that the human
soul is of no Jhigher grade than the soul of a brute.* I‘rom
my heart, 1 tejoice, to find the enemy of §5od and of man
arrayed in the ranks of opposition to this persecuted woman,
Next appears an acknowledged prostitute, of sable face,
but more sable heart ; a wretch who boasts and glories in
her shamie ; from whose foul lips, truth would be ashamed

to procecd 5 the falseness of whose story appears from.

* Itis but candid to state, that the person here alluded to, after the jury
hid retired, caune forward to the Court, and disavowed the sentiments
imputed to hini. . For the honor of human nature, it 1s hoped that the
disavowal was sincere, though the eontrary had been sworn toy by Mr..
Nesieil, 2 very' respectable witness. '
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written documents, as well as its own intrinsic ?ﬁiproba‘b‘i]i;
ty. In the same hideous group we indignantly find two
servant-maids, whom the prosecutrix had dismissed. Be-
ware, gentlemen, how you countenance the slander of dis-
carded servants. Turn your recollection to their incohe-
rent narratives ; reflect upon their contradictions of each
other, and of themselves. How often have they been in
the prison, closeted for hours with.the prisonerin his cham-
ber; and yet they affect to forget every word that was ut-
tered during the interviews. Well may they conceal the
horrid secrets of that chamber ! 1 will not 1nsult you with
a minute review .of the loathsome testimony, and. more
loathsome character of Goodlad and wife. You have been
eye witnesses of her perjury, and ear witnesses of his—out=
casts on our coast, she the cup-bearer, and probably the -
strumpet of the prisoner, he the receiver of the wages of
his wife’s dishonour—both wandering from house to house,
until vitimately settled 1n a receptacle of prostitution. But
Sinclair—the specious, the fair-seeming, the. rotten-hearted
Smclair—the Belialpf. this infernal confederacy, who, when
a stranger.on our shores, without employment or friends,
was in an evil -hour ' incautiously admitted into the
hospitable mansion of the 'prosecutrix and her husband
—he has dared to wound with his adder tongue the fame
of his benefactress. ~ He tells you that, before he
had known her a fortnight, she came to his bed, not “un-
- der the shade of guilt concealing night,” but in the open
face of day, and requested him to pollute her ! Iwould not
believe this story, though Cato himself had told it ; and 1
trust my incredulity may be. pardoned; when it proceeds
from the lips of Sinclair——a wretch, who avows that he ut-
tered this infamous calumny to the prisoner, and two other
of his companions long before any purpose of justice re-
quired the disclosure, although, as he admits, he knew it
would destroy the peace of the wife, and bharrow up the
soul of the husband, It was probably his ungrateful slan-
der that first directed the lust of the prisoner to its unhap=
py objee s © % | _
From this chaos of darkness and guilt, grateful is the
transition to the region of light and truth. -~ With pleasure
and with pride 1 presént the prosecutrix before you—not as
she now is, oppressed, traduced, trodden under foot ; but as.
X
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‘shHe was at the period when the prisoner and his assOciates
marked her as thoir vietim.  Aiter the misfortune ‘of het
husband had derc "oed their youthiul establishment, she
and har child sought (2fuge inihe sanctwary of her father’s
house ; but when the renovaied prespects of her husband
permitted, she ‘and her little one r¢joined him.  About
cighteen ‘months ago, with a Lzart {1l of hope, did she first
enter this city, unapprehensive of the storm of wrath which
was gathcring, and so soon to burst on her ‘devoted head.
Too elevated to intermingle with the low and the vulgar,
too depressed to be admitted into the circles of the rich and
the fashionable, her range of acquaintance was respectable,
but not extended. You have heard her character from
witnesses who could nothave been deceived, and who are
incapable of deceiving——from men of established reputa-
tion, of whom most were her neighbours, and one was her
boarder~-from respectable wemen, who have known het
intimately, loved ‘her affectionately, and magnanimously
adhered to her, through all the terrors of her trial. The
panegyricof these witnesses, is the language of humanity
and honor. 7 hey are no eutcasts on ofir shores ; no sympa-
thy in guilt binds tkem together, How interesting is the
portrait of this woman's virtues, when drawn by the pen-
cil'of truth ~domestic, economical, industrious beyond her
strength, pure in her manners, plain in'ler attire, dedicated
to the endearments of the fire-side, an affectionate wife, a
fond mother.—Such is the woman whom fiends have seiz-
ed, and conspire to sacrifice—To you she appeals for pro-
tection. If she be deserted, where is the satety of the sex ?
To-a jury’ of sons, brothers, husbands, fathers, I commit
ber. And may that being, who, while he presides in the
councils of the universe, condescends to be the protector of
human’ innocence, strengthen your hearts, and enlighten
vour understandings.

“We have gone more into the detail of Mr. G's speech than that of
anv of the counsel employed on this interesting occasion, because, in ouf
opinion, it comprehends the sum total of all the arguments which were
so ingeniously used in behalfof the prosecution. The language is suit-
ed to the solemnity of the scene—the arrangement is correct, and the
expressions are Jucid.  Although the reputation of this Barnster is al-
ready fuily estahlizhed, we think that this speech furnishes another int
contgstible propf of his erudition and his talents. | |

e
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M. Riker, the Attorney.-General then rote, and in a luminoug
sprech of nearly two hours, followed the course pursued by his col-
leagues. Much as we alwaysrespected the talents of Mr. K. we never:
witnessed him more animated than on this interesting oceasion. He
angenuously endeavoured to overturn the arguments which the eocunsael
in behalf of the prisoner had made use of in his defence, and to destroy
the effect of their satirical wit, TFully tmeing, and minutely investigat-
ing the testimony produced on the side of the prisoner, with & whip ef
scorpions hLe severely iashed the persons who had been witnessesin &is
fovour, and declared it to be his settled and sincere opinion, that sheré
had been more abuminable and damning perjury eommitted on this
occasion, than ever eame within the range of his observation, during his
whole course of practice. 'That there had been formed by the prisoner
& most unprincipied, detsstable, and villainous combination;, to shicld
him from merited pumishment, and defeat the ends of public justice——
that a koot of strangers recently vomited on our shores, had polluted the
ehannels of the streamy Bowing from the sacred fountains of justice and
of law, a (i had impregnated their pure and holy waters with deleteri-
ous poison..  Then turning to the tesiimony of the proseeatrix, and the
witnesses ranged ou her-side, he feclingly and eloquently described her
injuries, and recapitulated her wrongs—shewed that they had been al-
most Insupportakie, becanse, at a husband’s command, she had smother.
ed them. within her borom for.a length of time ; and although the op«
posite counsel now exult in a eircumstance that does imsting honor to &
faithful wife;and althougli in their opinion it may raise spspieions against
her, yet it: i8 a nois trait of her affection and fidelity, and worthy
to be recorded as a credit to her sex. He tnhen in a most pathatic and.
masterly manner summed up the cause, and appealed to the understand-
ings of the jury, and the best and masé oenerous affecrions of the human
heart, ia favor of an innosent and'injured female an: frusted, tlhat by
their verdiet, they would inflict-an awful and a just puiishmeut on her
mhoman ravisher.. '

CHARGE | 2
@f thie Honorable Pierre C. Van Wyck, Esq. to the Ju-
ry, after the termination of the Arguments of. the
Counsel.
GENTLEMI N, | s _ :
“ou have been-engpoed in a-tedious, and a laborious in-
westioation.  The charge against the Prisaner is of a very
serious nature: 1f proved to your satisfaction it deprives:
iitm forcver of liberty, property, anéd: reputation.. It be-
comes my duty, on ths inportant occasion, toexplain to you
the laws on the subject of the crime alledged asainst the pri-
soner ab the bar. Sir Matthero Hale, in s invaluable
work, says, that il is aw accusalion easily to be made, und
hard to be proved, and harder to be defended by the party
aecused, though never so-trmoceyt, M Nally tells you, thaé
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it 15 a rule of law, that if a jury entertain a reasonable
doubt, upon the truth of the testimony of witnesses, given up-
on ﬂze ssue, they are sworn well and truly to try—1lhey are
an conscience bound to deliver the prisoner from. the charge
Jound against im in the indictment, by giving a verdict of not
ﬂmtfy——-—Azzd that evidence does not alone consist, in merely
the swearing to facts, buk in the proof of facts, by witnesses
of mzdozzbmd credit,

The witness first introduced on this trial, s ﬂ[w Fay—
the person on whom the rape is said to have been committed—
she testifics to the fact, that on the evening of the 5th of De-
cember, the prisoner, by wviolence, robbed her of all that is
valuable to a woman of virtue ; and -minutely relates the cir-
cumstances of the transaction. |
- You are the competent mdues, how far /zer testimony 15
entitled o credil ; for if sheis supported by zmzmpmdmblﬁ
wilnesses, as to faz?" Same, 3025 are bound to ﬂnd the prison-
-~ er guilty of the charge.

1he next witness inorder, s Dr F ai. H’e corroboratec
kis wife’s story ; and ' his testimony establishes her’s ; but
there has been such strong proofs of the baseness of his con-
duct, drawn from his.own lips, that you will place Little or
no depeadance on what he has said on this occasion. _

Mrs. Gable's testimony s entitled to the fullest credit, as
Jar as it goss. She atlended as nurse to Mrs. Fay, four
days qfter the rape was-committed, and remained two days
an that capactty,  She perceived Mrs. Fay, labouring under
strong affectious of gricfs but knew nothing ¢f the causes of
ner z!!nasf a[zfcmz:r;‘z she prepared jomcumzwzzb, and. ad-
wiinestered medicine to 4drs. I*ﬁuy |

4 he testimony of Dorcas s clear, and unequivocal.  She
narrates Mrs. I7ay’s story, and thewr accounts eractly coin-
cide. I dressing Mrs. Fau, she saw her wourtds, and per-
cewved the marks cy" violence on her body : but it must be re-
collected, that this was mine days after the rape was commit-

bed, and that the briwise on her right arm above the elbow,
was not observed by Dr. Turk, who had bled Mrs. Fay, a
Jew days afte rwards, in the same arm. Desides you have
neard her character (z’fsum{*d by Mr. H/!zzz‘e_, and by her
gwn confession, she has been a tenant of Bridewell; You
will therefore atluch as much credence as you think proper to-
Aher h stein (Unj

{{ rs from the evidence of ﬂfr Joseph D, Fey, t/mt
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he wa®the first to whom Dr. Fay, communicated his own
and Mrs. Fay's gricvances ; and as far as can be gathered

from Mr. Fay's testimony, that this was about a week after

the rape had been commitled. 1t also appears that Mr, Fay
was the Doctor’s adviser, to pursue the steps that he has ta-
ken against the prisoner.

The character of Mrs. Fayts fortified and supported by
seven or eight respectable witnesses, who have been exam-
ined, in the course of thistrial. They all agree in pronoun-
cing her to be a woman of reputation and virtue. :

1he testimony produced on behalf of the prisoner, in or-
der to invalidate Mrs. Fay's evidence, 15 in some parts con-
tradictory, and in others, clear and conclusive. It is, there-
fore, my duly to point out in detail, what I think creditable,
and what doubtful, in the body of. lhe evidence, which has
heen presented before you. . '

The first is Catherine Cutshollc, who appears to have liv-
ed i Dr. Fays family, last summer. IHer story about
Mrs. Yay and Mr. Yisher, deserves your serious considera-
tion. Particularly relatrve to the situation in which the bed
stood, and her seeing the foat of it through the key-hole.—
You have exananed the room, and are thercfore competent

Judges of the fact. But if you are of opwnion, that

the bed could mot be perceived, where she located it in the
room, voi are to discredil the whole of her testimony, for
when you find a contradiction in evidence, or perceivethat a
woitness 15 prejudiced, or malevolent, you are bound to disbe-
(eve the whole of the testimony of that witness.

The next wilness produced is Agnes IWhite, whose evi-
dence has not been materially contradicted. — She proves that.
Mrs. Yay's manners have not, at all times, oeen regulated
by the strict rules of decency and decorum. As a servant,
she had certainly betier opportunitics of observation,. than
fransient visitors, or even Mr.,Smith, whowas a boarder ixn
the family, because his avocations did not permit him (o be
much at home—Besides she says that lhere never was any
quarrel between Mrs Fay, and herself—1 therefore think her
evidence entitled to your serious attention.

Mr. De Castros evidenee is clhaefly relaling to the siluation
of the house, and the probabiizty of his hearing the shrieks
of Mrs. Yay. As you have visited the premises, you aie
competent judge& of lhe éng:’ormnce' and trilh of hits  testis
nonry, |
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Goodlad and his wife, appears before you as very suspis
cious characters, and you are to recewe their testimony with
great caution. Indeed their evidence will have very little
weight, in determining the fate of thus prosecution. But if
you_ find that the bed could not be seen, through the key-hole,
placed in the situation wn which Mrs, Goodlad has represent-
ed it to stand, then you are bound to reject her evidence al-
together. And from the inconsistency of her husband, as
well as the insanity of lus conduct, ltlle or no credit can be
attached to Jus testimony, by a judicious jury.

Mr. Sinclair’s ecidence i this cause stands unconlroverted:
—except on account of an acknowledgment of the moral im=~
propriety of his conduct, in regard to Dr. Yay's family.—
1t appears ke was treated by the husband as a friend ; and
if you believe lus testimony, he, to say the least, did not res
sist the temptation of Geconung the destroyer of lus peace,
and the murderer of his wife’s honor. You will, therefore,

- gudge of his testimony according to M*Nally's Rules of Evi- +
'~ dence, which on the threshold of my odservasions, ¥ guoted.
Jor your informatton on the subject. _

Aimy Neilson's testimony, respecting Mrs. Fay and her
husband, appears in so questionable and contradictory a
shape, in respect to dates, that you will hesilate to give it
credence.  If it be true, it is all important in the mvalida-
ion of the evidence of the prosecutrix. You will, therefore,
smaturely weigh, and give it what degree of eredil, you please.,

Finally—you are deliberately to weigh the whole of the
testimony for and against the prisoner at the bar. 1If you
believe Mrs. Yay's representation of her injuries, and find
2t supported and corroborated by unimpeachable wilnesses.—
You are bound to find a verdict against the prisoner.

But if it has been proved to your satisfaction, that her
character stands tmpeacked, by undemable evidence of a
breach of those principles of moral rectitude, which are 1n-
nosed on her by the sacred ties of matrimonial duty ; then it
becomes you to pronounce the prisoner innocent of the crime
alledoed against him,

1 now commend the cause to your impartial consideration.
Flave to thank you for your solicitous attention, and laborious
investicarion during this trial ; and have only to warn youw
against being swerved by the declamations of the counsel on

-

wigher side.  Yeouy duty is o collate and compare wie 1¢s1ma-
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), and te bring in a verdist according to conscience, so thet
it may meet the approbation of the Supreme Ruler of human
destinies, and be approved of by your country, whose laws
you have on this occasion solemnly sworn 1o execuze.

The Jury then retired, it being about 2 o’clock mn the
morning ; and returned, after an absence of three quar-
ters of an hour—with a verdict of NOT GUILLY.

After the verdict was pronounced, a very improper Sscene
took place.  Many of the audience, some of whom were casuat
visitors, and some of them patient attendants during the whole
of this tedious trial, gave three cheers. The thinking and
sensible part of the community, who were present, considered
it highly indecorous in a Court of Justice. The circumstancs
is related as a fact—and, without inferring that the verdct
was unanimously approbated by the by-standers, for this
was not the case, because a number hissed at the sar€ MO~
ment, 1t proves the hich value that ought always # attach,
(and which on this occasion, appeared to be Spmmneozzsgy,
although improperly, expressed, by the crozwd, ) to - FAIR AND
IMPARTIAL TRTAL BY JURY-—7he sacred hulzark of wndi-
sedual rights, and best guardian of human lib7ty-

NOTE.

The hasty manner in which this pyb¥%cation has been ushered be-
fore the public, will apologise for the typographical errors, and any other
inaccuracies, which have unavoidably crept into it. A8 we have been
alrcady severely censured, and expect to be publicly attacked, regect-
jng our ghotives, for pubﬁshing tle 'histﬁry of atrial of such a nature,
ag that contained in the forepoing pages, it becomes us to state, that
we are of opinion, that instead of injuring, it will subserve the
cauge of morality, by- warping the unthinking part of both sexes, a.
gainst the terrible consequences which result from crime, and the in-
dulgence of unlawful passions. 'We should be the last to attempt to
break down the great barriers, which are the principal f2nces of socia
erder and individual happiness. We have maturely deliberated on the:
subject, .and 'ﬁnally resolved, to give a fair and impartial narrative of the
~‘mysterious transaction, as the pubiic mind appears to be divided on the

vordict given by ene of the mest honcst and indchpendet.yt juries <lat
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ever were impanelled, to decide on the fate of a human being. Another
- strong redason for this publication, is, that the Grand Jury liave found
bills of indictment, against several of the witnesses; who had been pre-
~duced in behalf of the defendant. It is therefore proper that the whole
of the fucts given in evidence, should be fully developed. For our-

se!ves, we give no opinion on the subject, but submit the work with
all its imperfe ctions, to the bar of the public.

ERRATA. _
Yage 18 Vine 2 for house read horse | SR o
| , 3 g Y. do L | i ee
do . 2% 5 for Buck read Bush and continue the transposition
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do , 26 - - 6 for Physicianread Dr Fay, |

32 Afier ¥r. Xiy’s testimony, erase the cross examination by P. J-
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